

# **THE LENDING, CREDIT AND FINANCE RULES and GUIDANCE, 2023**

## **CONSOLIDATED VERSION**

The Lending, Credit and Finance Rules, made in accordance with the Lending, Credit and Finance (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2022 (“the Law”), are set out in this document<sup>1</sup>.

Further guidance, provided by the Guernsey Financial Services Commission (“the Commission”), is set out in shaded boxes.

This consolidated version of the Rules incorporates amendments listed in the footnote below. It is prepared for the Guernsey Law website and is believed to be up to date, but it is not authoritative and has no legal effect. No warranty is given that the text is free of errors and omissions, and no liability is accepted for any loss arising from its use.

---

<sup>1</sup> As amended by The Lending, Credit and Finance (Amendment) Rules, 2023, G.S.I. No. 39.

## Contents

PART 1	INTRODUCTION .....	6
1.1	Application.....	6
PART 2	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND EFFECTIVE MANAGEMENT .....	7
2.1	Application.....	7
2.2	Governance responsibilities.....	7
2.3	Supervised roles .....	9
2.4	Governance and effective management.....	9
2.5	Conflict of interest.....	10
2.6	Account rules.....	11
2.6.1	Accounting records and accounting period of a licensee.....	11
2.6.2	Availability of audited accounts .....	12
2.7	Actions of auditors.....	13
2.8	Annual Review .....	13
2.9	Annual Return .....	13
2.10	Electronic filing.....	14
2.11	Record keeping.....	14
2.11.1	Records of the licensee's own business.....	14
2.11.2	Data security .....	15
2.11.3	Retention of records.....	15
2.11.4	Outsourcing record maintenance .....	16
2.12	Outsourcing .....	16
2.12.1	Responsibility .....	16
2.12.2	Risk assessment .....	17
2.12.3	Due diligence in selection of outsourced service providers and monitoring outsourced service provider's performance.....	17
2.12.4	Outsourcing agreements.....	17
2.12.5	Contingency plan .....	18
2.12.6	Part III VASP Licensees.....	18
2.13	Employee screening and training.....	18
2.14	Qualifications.....	20
2.14.1	Training .....	20
2.14.2	Home finance.....	20
2.14.3	Equity release.....	20

PART 3	CONDUCT OF BUSINESS.....	23
3.1	General conduct .....	23
3.2	Customer relations.....	24
3.2.1	Customer agreements.....	24
3.2.2	Commissions and disclosures .....	25
3.2.3	Suitability .....	26
3.2.4	Vulnerable customers .....	28
3.2.5	Customers experiencing payment difficulties .....	31
3.2.6	Periodic information and closing statements.....	31
3.3	Complaints.....	32
3.4	Customer money .....	33
3.4.1	Application.....	33
3.4.2	Customer money .....	33
3.4.3	Customer money bank accounts.....	34
3.4.4	Payments from customer money bank accounts .....	35
3.4.5	Operation of customer money bank accounts .....	37
3.5	Annual Percentage Rate (“APR”) and total charge for credit – Regulated credit agreements.....	37
3.5.1	Application.....	37
3.5.2	Total charge in relation to consumer credit agreements .....	37
3.5.3	Total charge for home finance agreements.....	39
3.5.4	Calculation of the APR .....	39
3.6	Business transfer .....	40
3.7	Promotion and Advertising.....	40
3.7.1	Application and responsibility.....	40
3.7.2	Issue of materials.....	40
3.7.3	Specific requirements of Part II Licensees .....	41
3.7.4	Virtual asset advertisements.....	42
PART 4	PRUDENTIAL .....	43
4.1	Insurance .....	43
4.1.1	Application and general requirements .....	43
4.1.2	Minimum requirement.....	43
4.2	Financial resources.....	45

4.2.1	Application.....	45
4.2.2	Requirements.....	45
PART 5	COOPERATION WITH THE COMMISSION.....	47
5.1	General provision.....	47
5.2	Notification by a licensee .....	47
PART 6	CONSUMER PROTECTION AND UNFAIR AGREEMENT TERMS.....	50
6.1	Application.....	50
6.2	Unfair agreement terms .....	50
PART 7	PART II LICENCES.....	52
7.1	Requirement for multiple licences.....	52
7.2	General Obligations .....	52
7.3	Equivalence.....	52
7.4	Applications and regulated activities.....	53
7.5	Appointed retailers and appointed motor traders.....	53
7.6	Early repayment.....	54
7.7	Information to customers.....	54
7.8	Cooling-off period.....	55
7.8.1	Application.....	55
7.8.2	Regulated agreements, excluding home finance and equity release agreements .....	55
7.8.3	Home finance agreements .....	56
7.9	Maximum cost of credit .....	56
7.10	Treatment of surplus following default.....	56
7.11	Appointed Service Providers .....	57
7.12	Restrictions on further credit.....	57
PART 7A	PART II LICENCES – EQUITY RELEASE.....	58
7.13	Application.....	58
7.14	Customer age.....	58
7.15	Excessive charging.....	59
7.16	Protection of customers.....	59
7.17	Fair treatment of customers.....	60
7.18	Independent legal advice.....	61
7.19	Prohibition on cold calls.....	63

7.20	Restrictions on use of terms.....	63
7.21	Partial home reversion plans.....	64
7.22	Equity Release Code of Practice.....	65
PART 8	PROVISION OF ANCILLARY SERVICES UNDER PART II LICENCES.....	66
8.1	General obligations.....	66
8.2	Provision of advice.....	67
8.3	Debt administration.....	68
PART 8A	PROVISION OF ANCILLARY SERVICES UNDER PART II LICENCES – EQUITY RELEASE.....	69
8.4	Key-facts illustration.....	69
8.5	Advised sales.....	70
8.6	Joint applications.....	71
PART 9	PART III FINANCIAL FIRM BUSINESS LICENCES .....	73
9.1	Requirement for multiple licences.....	73
PART 10	PART III VASP LICENCES.....	74
10.1	Requirements for multiple licences .....	74
10.2	Applications and regulated activities.....	74
10.3	Environmental declaration .....	78
10.4	Safekeeping of customer virtual assets .....	80
PART 11	PART IV LICENCES.....	82
11.1	Requirement for multiple licences.....	82
11.2	Applications and regulated activities.....	82
11.3	General Obligations .....	82
11.4	Customer limits .....	83
11.5	Information for customers .....	84
PART 12	GENERAL PROVISION.....	86
12.1	Interpretation.....	86
PART 13	CITATION AND COMMENCEMENT.....	92
13.1	Citation and commencement.....	92
SCHEDULE 1	The Principles of conduct of finance business.....	76
SCHEDULE 2	Calculation of Annual Percentage Rate.....	78
SCHEDULE 3	Calculation of maximum early repayment fees.....	92
SCHEDULE 4	Unfair agreement terms.....	93
SCHEDULE 5	Key-facts illustrations for equity release.....	93
SCHEDULE 6	Equity Release Code of Practice.....	93

## PART 1 INTRODUCTION

### 1.1 Application

- (1) Unless otherwise stated, these Rules apply to all holders of licences issued under the Law.
- (2) The Commission may, in its absolute discretion and by written notice, exclude or modify the application of any provision of these Rules.
- (3) The Commission may issue supplementary guidance regarding the standards of conduct and practice expected in relation to any aspect of the regulatory framework. Such guidance will not constitute rules of the Commission.

#### **Guidance**

This document takes a two-level approach –

- the Rules set out the standards to be met; and
- guidance notes set out the Commission's approach to regulation and present suggested ways of showing compliance with the Rules.

Alternative measures to those set out in the guidance may be adopted so long as it is possible to demonstrate that such measures achieve compliance.

The text contained in shaded boxes is Commission guidance and does not form part of the Rules.

## **PART 2 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND EFFECTIVE MANAGEMENT**

### **2.1 Application**

- (1) This section applies to all licensees.

### **2.2 Governance responsibilities**

- (1) The licensee must ensure that at least two individuals with the responsibility of directing the business are resident in the Bailiwick.
- (2) The board and senior management, of a licensee, must take all reasonable steps to ensure that all employees of the licensee act so as to avoid material damage either to
  - 
  - (a) potential and current customers;
  - (b) the licensee's reputation;
  - (c) the licensee's financial position; and
  - (d) the reputation of the Bailiwick as an international finance centre.
- (3) The board of a licensee –
  - (a) must ensure that the licensee –
    - (i) has in place effective and appropriate policies, procedures, and controls to ensure compliance with all applicable legislation, rules, codes, and guidance;

- (ii) recruits, trains, and supervises relevant personnel to ensure compliance with all applicable legislation, rules, codes, and guidance; and
- (iii) operates robust arrangements for meeting the requirements of these Rules and all other relevant legislation;
  - (b) at all times, retains responsibility for any functions it outsources; and
  - (c) must evaluate its compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance<sup>2</sup> on a regular basis.
- (4) In the case of a Part III VASP Licensee -
  - (a) the board must ensure that the licensee has sufficient resources, within the Bailiwick, to effectively oversee and control the activities and business of the licensee; and
  - (b) to maintain effective oversight, the board and senior management of the licensee must ensure that they have sufficient knowledge, understanding, and expertise with respect to the activities of the licensee and the services it provides.

#### **Guidance**

For the avoidance of doubt, the relevant legislation and rules include The Criminal Justice (Proceeds of Crime) (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 1999 and the Handbook on Countering Financial Crime and Terrorist Financing.

Provision of Services Ancillary to the Provision of Credit is not included in the definition of financial service business at Schedule 1 of the Proceeds of Crime Law and is outside the scope of the Handbook.

General insurers who are licensed credit providers, in respect of providing credit for payment by instalments for general insurance products, will also fall outside the scope of the Handbook.

---

<sup>2</sup> Instrument made on 30 September 2011.



## **2.3 Supervised roles**

(1) The following sections of the Law –

- (a) section 43, Notification of and objection to holders of approved supervised roles;
- (b) section 44, Notification of and objection to holders of vetted supervised roles;
- (c) section 45, Notification of change of holder of supervised role,

apply to all licensees engaging persons in any of the roles designated as 'supervised roles', under section 41 of the Law.

## **2.4 Governance and effective management**

(1) A licensee must comply with these Rules, and any other applicable legislation, codes, or guidance and must understand and comply with its contractual and other legal obligations arising under any relevant customer agreements.

(2) A licensee must –

- (a) ensure that the responsibilities and authority of relevant personnel are clear and appropriate to their qualifications and experience;
- (b) record and monitor compliance with these Rules and all other relevant legislation;
- (c) keep a breaches register which logs all instances of non-compliance with these Rules; and
- (d) fulfil the minimum criteria for licensing.

- (3) A licensee is responsible for the behaviour of any appointed retailers and appointed motor traders that they appoint and must ensure that they are aware of, and comply with, these Rules.

## **2.5 Conflict of interest**

(1) Subject to the applicable laws, a licensee must –

- (a) act impartially;
- (b) not unfairly place its interests above those of its customers; and
- (c) ensure fair treatment between customers.

(2) A licensee must –

- (a) establish, implement, and maintain an effective written conflicts of interest policy which is appropriate to the nature, scale, and complexity of the business;
- (b) ensure that adequate procedures are implemented to either avoid any conflict of interest arising or, where conflicts do arise, manage or minimise them;
- (c) keep records of any conflicts of interest and how they are managed;
- (d) without prejudice to these Rules, the Handbook<sup>3</sup>, the Prevention of Corruption (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2003<sup>4</sup> and any other relevant legislation, not solicit, receive, or accept bribes, gifts, inducements, rewards, or advantage that are likely to conflict with the licensees' duty to any customer.

---

<sup>3</sup> Handbook on Countering Financial Crime and Terrorist Financing, Guernsey Financial Services Commission.

<sup>4</sup> Order in Council No.1 of 2004.

## 2.6 Account rules

### 2.6.1 Accounting records and accounting period of a licensee

- (1) The accounting records must –
  - (a) show and explain transactions;
  - (b) enable financial statements to be prepared; and
  - (c) present, with reasonable accuracy at any time, all assets, liabilities, income, and expenditure.
- (2) All licensees are required to prepare audited accounts unless they act solely as ancillary services providers under Part II of the Law.
- (3) Audited accounts must –
  - (a) present a true and fair view of the financial position at the end of that accounting period;
  - (b) present a true and fair view of any profit and loss during that accounting period;
  - (c) be prepared in accordance with either –
    - (i) UK accounting standards<sup>5</sup>;
    - (ii) US accounting standards<sup>6</sup>; or

---

<sup>5</sup> As issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

<sup>6</sup> As issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

- (iii) International Financial Reporting Standards<sup>7</sup>; and
  - (d) must be accompanied by an auditor's report prepared in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing as issued by either –
    - (i) the Financial Reporting Council; or
    - (ii) the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
- (4) The accounting period, of a licensee, must be set and –
  - (a) must not exceed 12 months, and
  - (b) must not be altered without prior written permission from the Commission,
    - apart from the first accounting period, of a newly formed licensee, which may be up to 18 months.

#### 2.6.2 Availability of audited accounts

- (1) All Part II, Part III VASP and Part IV licensees, required to produce audited accounts, must ensure that those accounts are also made available to the public on request.

---

<sup>7</sup> As issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

## **2.7 Actions of auditors**

- (1) All licensees, required to produce audited accounts, must comply with section 57 of the Law. In particular, the Commission must be notified of the –
  - (a) appointment of an auditor;
  - (b) removal of an auditor;
  - (c) resignation of an auditor;
  - (d) signing-off of a qualified audit report.

## **2.8 Annual Review**

- (1) The Annual Review requirements, set out in section 67 of the Law –
  - (a) need only be undertaken by Part III VASP Licensees and such other licensees specifically directed to do so by the Commission; and
  - (b) must review all matters specified by the Commission.

## **2.9 Annual Return**

- (1) A licensee, at the end of the Annual Return Period, must make an Annual Return, to the Commission.
- (2) The Annual Return Period must coincide with the licensee's financial year.
- (3) An Annual Return must be made, to the Commission, within six calendar months of the end of the Annual Returns Period to which it relates.

- (4) Annual Returns must include –
  - (a) either –
    - (i) audited accounts and an auditor’s management letter and any report prepared by an internal or external auditor, an accountant, or a consultant which addresses any breakdown of, or any material weaknesses in, internal control procedures; or
    - (ii) where a licensee is not required to produce audited accounts, unaudited financial statements, including any notes;
  - (b) an up-to-date, narrative, business plan;
  - (c) complaints data, in a format determined by the Commission; and
  - (d) any other information which the Commission may, from time to time, specify.

## **2.10 Electronic filing**

- (1) Reviews and Returns filed with the Commission, under rule 2.8 and 2.9, must be submitted in such electronic format as the Commission makes available.

## **2.11 Record keeping**

### **2.11.1 Records of the licensee’s own business**

- (1) A licensee, in relation to its own business, must ensure that all appropriate records are kept up to date, complete, and accurate including but not limited to –
  - (a) records of all regulated agreements between the licensee and its customers;

- (b) the complaints procedure and controls;
- (c) records of customer communications and transactions; and
- (d) records of any decisions as to the treatment of customers.

#### 2.11.2 Data security

- (1) A licensee must maintain adequate policies and procedures for the maintenance, security, privacy, and preservation of all documents and records belonging to the licensee and its customers so that they are reasonably safeguarded against loss, unauthorised access, alteration, or destruction.
- (2) Any policies and procedures must conform with the Data Protection (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2017<sup>8</sup>.

#### 2.11.3 Retention of records

- (1) A licensee must keep and preserve the following –
  - (a) records of its own business prepared in accordance with these Rules; and
  - (b) any documents relating to customers which were prepared in compliance with these Rules.
- (2) Where a licensee is aware of any matter which is subject to investigatory or disciplinary procedures, or appeals against such procedures, all documents which are, or may be, relevant to this matter must not be amended or destroyed without written consent from the Commission.

---

<sup>8</sup> No. VI of 2018.

#### 2.11.4 Outsourcing record maintenance

- (1) Where the licensee outsources the maintenance of its own records, customer records, or both, the licensee must ensure it is satisfied that –
  - (a) the documents are kept secure and any operational risks are appropriately managed;
  - (b) the records are readily accessible;
  - (c) all regulatory and confidentiality laws and requirements are complied with; and
  - (d) the Commission can have access to the records at all reasonable times.

### 2.12 Outsourcing

#### 2.12.1 Responsibility

- (1) Subject to rule 2.12.6, a licensee may outsource functions but the board retains responsibility and accountability for the outsourced functions. Responsibilities include –
  - (a) the maintenance of effective oversight of the outsourced functions; and
  - (b) ensuring that the licensee continues to comply with these Rules and all other relevant legislation.

#### **Guidance**

For the avoidance of doubt, when a firm offers a product, activity, or service that requires a licence under the Law, outsourcing the carrying out of that activity does not remove the need for a licence.



#### 2.12.2 Risk assessment

- (1) The board of a licensee must be fully aware of and understand the risks arising from outsourcing its functions.
- (2) Where outsourcing is proposed a licensee must carry out a risk assessment which includes, but is not limited to –
  - (a) risks associated with a breakdown in the provision of the outsourced services; and
  - (b) risks which could arise from the failure of the outsourced service provider.

#### 2.12.3 Due diligence in selection of outsourced service providers and monitoring outsourced service provider's performance

- (1) A licensee must –
  - (a) exercise due diligence, on the outsourced service provider, to ensure that it can be satisfied that the outsourced service provider has the ability and capacity to undertake the provision of the service effectively;
  - (b) document the capability and suitability of the proposed provider of the outsourced service; and
  - (c) establish clear internal responsibility for monitoring the conduct of the outsourced services and for reporting to the board.

#### 2.12.4 Outsourcing agreements

- (1) A licensee must ensure that there is a written outsourcing agreement in place for every outsourced activity.

- (2) The outsourcing agreement must –
- (a) have appropriate content reflecting the nature, scale, and complexity of the outsourcing arrangements; and
  - (b) for significant outsourcing arrangements, include a contractual requirement for the services provider to –
- (i) give the Commission the right to direct access to material which it holds in relation to the business of the licensee;
  - (ii) maintain records as required under the relevant laws and other requirements; and
  - (iii) inform and obtain agreement, from the licensee, prior to sub-outsourcing any functions.

#### 2.12.5 Contingency plan

- (1) The licensee must ensure that there is, established and maintained, an appropriate contingency plan which enables alternative arrangements to be set up, with minimal disruption, in case of the failure of the outsourced service provider or any other breakdown in the provision of services.

#### 2.12.6 Part III VASP Licensees

- (1) A Part III VASP licensee must not, without the Commission's written agreement, outsource any function outside the Bailiwick.

### 2.13 Employee screening and training

- (1) A licensee must maintain appropriate and effective procedures when hiring employees, or admitting any person as a partner, for the purpose of ensuring high standards of probity and competence. These procedures should be proportionate to the nature, risk profile, and size of the business.

- (2) To ensure that individuals are of the required standard of competence and probity the licensee must, at the minimum, give consideration to the collection and confirmation of the following during the recruitment process –
- (a) appropriate references;
  - (b) details of any regulatory action taken against the individual, in any jurisdiction;
  - (c) details of any action, taken against the individual, by any professional body;
  - (d) details of any criminal convictions, including the provision of a check of the individual's criminal record<sup>9</sup>; and
  - (e) details of employment history, qualifications, and professional memberships.
- (3) A licensee must ensure that individuals receive any training which is necessary for their roles and –
- (a) formulate plans for training and development; and
  - (b) keep training and development plans current and relevant.

---

<sup>9</sup> In accordance with the Rehabilitation of Offenders (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law 2002, Order in Council No. XIV of 2002.

## 2.14 Qualifications

### 2.14.1 Training

- (1) Any person providing advice, to customers, must be suitably trained.

### 2.14.2 Home finance

- (1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to Part II licensees.
- (2) Licensees must ensure that any individual providing advice in respect of home finance agreements or approving home finance agreements on behalf of the licensee, holds an Approved Home Finance Qualification.

### 2.14.3 Equity release finance

- (1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to Part II licensees.
- (2) Licensees must ensure that any individual providing advice in respect of equity release finance, or approving equity release finance on behalf of the licensee, holds both an Approved Home Finance Qualification and an Approved Equity Release Qualification.

#### **Guidance**

Approved Home Finance Qualifications and Approved Equity Release Qualifications (together, "Approved Qualifications") –

A list of appropriate qualifications can be found on the Commission's website.

Not all employees that deal directly with customers need to hold an Approved Qualification. This includes, for example, administrative staff.

Individuals who are currently training towards an Approved Qualification can provide advice, provided they are properly supervised by ~~someone~~ an employee who is fully qualified holds valid Approved Qualifications.

- (3) A qualification ceases to be an Approved Equity Release Qualification if, at the time it was obtained, its syllabus did not comprehensively cover both lifetime mortgage and home reversion products.

### Guidance

The Commission recognises that, for some individuals, significant time may have elapsed since they obtained an equity release qualification. In such cases, an individual may have obtained their qualification at a time when only one aspect of equity release (i.e., lifetime mortgage or home reversion) was comprehensively covered by the syllabus.

In these circumstances, the Commission may (upon request, and on a case-by-case basis) consider modifying rule 2.14.3(2).

Where granted, a modification would temporarily permit such an individual to –

- a) provide advice in respect of –
  - (i) home reversion finance; or
  - (ii) lifetime mortgages; or
- b) approve, on behalf of a licensee, –
  - (i) home reversion finance; or
  - (ii) lifetime mortgages,

as applicable, and as relevant to the nature of the qualification held.

A modification permitting (a) above would additionally require a licensee to disclose to any equity release customer, at the outset of the advisory process –

- a) that the individual adviser is only permitted to advise on one type of equity release (i.e., home reversion finance or lifetime mortgages);
- b) the type of equity release they are permitted to advise upon; and
- c) any limitations this may pose on their ability to offer the customer holistic advice.

This disclosure should be clear and unambiguous.

From 1 January 2028, any modifications to rule 2.14.3 previously granted by the Commission will cease to have effect. From this date, all individuals providing advice in respect of equity release finance or approving equity releasee finance on behalf of a licensee should hold an Approved Equity Release qualification that complies with rule 2.14.3(3).

Permanent modification to rule 2.14.3 may also be considered in circumstances where the Commission is satisfied that suitable gap-fill qualifications have been obtained to meet the spirit of that rule.

For the avoidance of doubt, a qualification would “comprehensively cover” both home reversion and lifetime mortgage products if (at a minimum) its syllabus included the features, risks and benefits of both product types, in detail.

## **Guidance**

### **Continuing Professional Development for Equity Release Advisers**

Anyone advising on equity release finance products is required by rule 2.14.3 to hold one of the Approved Equity Release Qualifications listed on the Commission's website.

In addition, the Commission expects anyone advising on equity release finance products to maintain membership of the appropriate professional body at all times, and to maintain a log of all relevant training they have completed, with this to be reviewed at least annually, to identify any knowledge gaps and to assist in assessing ongoing competence to provide advice in this area.

## **PART 3 CONDUCT OF BUSINESS**

### **3.1 General conduct**

- (1) A licensee must observe the Principles, set out at Schedule 1, when carrying on its regulated business.
- (2) A licensee must not attempt to avoid or contract out of its responsibilities set out in these Rules.
- (3) All licensees must –
  - (a) establish and maintain policies, procedures, and controls to monitor and ensure there are always the requisite capacity and resources to provide the services agreed with its customers;
  - (b) ensure that all decisions taken, or transactions entered into, by or on behalf of the customers, are actioned in a timely manner and appropriately authorised and handled by persons with an appropriate level of knowledge, experience, and status. This includes the establishment, transfer, or closing of business relationships; and
  - (c) maintain confidentiality except where disclosure of information is –
    - (i) required or permitted by an applicable law; or
    - (ii) authorised by the person to whom the duty of confidentiality is owed.
- (4) Subject to the terms of the agreement, and any applicable legislation, a licensee must promptly provide customers with information to which they are entitled or, if this is not possible, explain why such information cannot be provided.

## 3.2 Customer relations

### 3.2.1 Customer agreements

- (1) A licensee must inform any person with whom it proposes to enter into an agreement in respect of the provision of regulated activities, in writing, of its terms of business and must retain a record of that person's agreement to those terms.

#### **Guidance**

Licensees are obliged to treat customers fairly. While the primary responsibility for ensuring that any credit arrangement is suitable for customers rests with the credit provider entering into the agreement, ancillary service providers (brokers) should be transparent in their advice.

Where they provide credit in addition to advising customers or acting as a broker, they are expected to disclose this information, to advise whether they are acting in their capacity as a broker or lender and where there is a potential conflict of interest. In treating customers fairly it is expected that advice should be impartial and should not, for example, favour "own brand" offerings over those from other providers which are more suitable or are cheaper overall for the customer concerned.

- (2) The agreement shall include, but is not limited to –
- (a) a clear description of the services to be provided;
  - (b) the fees, including exit fees, to be charged – setting out the nature and scale of the fees and the basis of the calculation of those fees;
  - (c) the means by which complaints can be made;
  - (d) details of the licensee's complaints resolution procedures including, where applicable, contact details for the Channel Islands Financial Ombudsman ("CIFO") and a statement that the CIFO may be available to consider complaints which are not resolved through the licensee's complaints resolution procedure;



- (e) a record of any provision for the termination of the agreement and the consequences of the termination; and
  - (f) a statement that the licensee is licensed by the Commission.
- (3) A licensee must not recommend a service to a customer, or encourage a customer to enter into an agreement, unless it has taken reasonable steps to make them aware of the risks involved and any conflicts of interest.

### 3.2.2 Commissions and disclosure

- (1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to Part II licensees.
- (2) Licensees must disclose the existence and nature of any commission, fee, or other payment made by them, or received by them, in the process of effecting a regulated agreement.
- (3) Disclosure must be prominent and clear and made prior to the customer entering into any regulated agreement.
- (4) Arrangements facilitating commission payments, used by licensees, must not permit the payment of additional commission as a result of the increase of charges applied to the customer.
- (5) Payments of commission based on the difference in charges (“DIC”) methodology are not permitted.
- (6) Ancillary service providers must disclose, to customers on request, all fees and commissions received for arranging the regulated agreement on behalf of a lender or reversion provider.
- (7) Mortgage advisors, mortgage brokers, and ancillary service providers providing services relating to home finance agreements and home reversion finance must disclose all fees and commissions before the customer enters into the agreement.

### 3.2.3 Suitability

- (1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to Part II licensees.
- (2) A licensee, at the outset of its provision of services to a customer, must ensure that it has obtained sufficient information, from that customer, to ensure that any service provided is suitable to the requirements, needs, position and circumstances of the customer.
- (3) When recommending a product, or arranging or effecting an agreement, a licensee must consider –
  - (a) the information received, from the customer, with regard to their circumstances;
  - (b) the terms of any proposed agreement;
  - (c) whether the agreement is suitable to the requirements of the customer;
  - (d) the creditworthiness of the customer, including whether the agreement is affordable; and
  - (e) any other relevant facts, about the customer, of which the licensee is, or reasonably should be, aware.
- (4) Licensees must take a proportional approach to assessing the creditworthiness of a customer, bearing in mind –
  - (a) the value of the credit;
  - (b) the nature of any security; and
  - (c) the circumstances of the customer.

- (5) A licensee must have a written procedure in place detailing how a customer's creditworthiness is assessed, including –
- (a) the customer's ability to meet the payments as they fall due;
  - (b) whether the payments are affordable for the customer;
  - (c) whether the customer will be able to meet the payments, and whether they will remain affordable, as a consequence of interest rate rises; and
  - (d) where appropriate, whether the customer will be able to meet the payments, and whether they will remain affordable, should the customer's circumstances change.

#### Guidance

Licensees are required to carry out a suitability assessment for equity release finance for both lifetime mortgage and home reversion products.

Assessments of affordability and creditworthiness are required where appropriate to the nature of the product provided. For example, this would be required where any form of ongoing payment may be made under the agreement.

- (6) A licensee must take reasonable steps not to recommend or effect an agreement if it is not suitable or affordable.
- (7) Where a customer is a High Net Worth Individual, (1)-(5) do not apply, unless the provision of services relate to an equity release arrangement.

## **Guidance**

### **Affordability**

Affordability is a well understood concern for retail lending but the precise understanding of the definition varies for different providers. In the Commission's view it is an essential part of the assessment of customer creditworthiness.

It is intended that considerations of affordability should be appropriate and proportionate to the circumstance of the credit being provided and the circumstances of the customer – it is not a prescriptive or “one size fits all” approach.

Credit providers should take steps to understand the circumstances of their customers. For customers in more secure longer-term employment, and for smaller value purchases, the consideration may be less onerous. Increased scrutiny of affordability may be needed for larger value purchases, where the customer has a imperfect credit record, or where they are employed on a casual basis. In such circumstances it may be appropriate to consider whether the customer would be able to afford repayments in the event of a change in circumstances.

[Sub](#)rule 3.3.3 applies to credit providers even when the customer comes through a broker or other intermediary.

#### 3.2.4 Vulnerable customers

- (1) This [sub](#)-rule only applies to Part II licensees.
- (2) Licensees must ensure that this rule is applied to any guarantors as well as [borrowers customers](#).
- (3) When recommending a product, or arranging or effecting an agreement, a licensee must consider whether the customer –
  - (a) presents any indications of vulnerability;
  - (b) is over 75 years of age; or

- (c) requires any additional care or assistance.
- (4) A licensee must have a written procedure in place detailing how vulnerability is assessed.
- (5) Licensees must take extra care when dealing with vulnerable customers and those over the age of 75 and must consider –
  - (a) the availability and accessibility of products;
  - (b) whether they require additional assistance to understand the agreement; or
  - (c) whether forbearance may be appropriate.

## Guidance

### Vulnerability and vulnerable customers

The fact that a customer is vulnerable should not prevent them from accessing financial services, or [prevent](#) licensees dealing with them or providing them with services. Licensees should not automatically reject applications for services because a customer is vulnerable and should take steps to accommodate their needs.

Vulnerability includes many factors. Anything which results in [a customer experiencing](#) difficulty in accessing and understanding information can be seen as [a](#) vulnerability – e.g. frailty or mobility issues (whatever the cause), impaired vision, impaired hearing, difficulties understanding English, life events or mental health issues.

Firms should accommodate vulnerable customers by providing information in a form which is accessible to their customers and should consider [ensuring](#), among other things –

- [ensuring](#) that more time is [made](#) available for discussions;
- information is made available in large prints, or other formats;
- meetings [are held](#) in locations that are accessible; ~~and~~
- allowing family and friends to assist; ~~and~~
- ~~(not least particularly in the case of an equity release finance arrangement) whether an independent opinion should be sought from a suitably qualified medical practitioner, that confirms whether the customer has sufficient decision making capacity compliance with their obligations under the Capacity (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2020.~~

Firm's own guidance on vulnerability should consider the indicators of vulnerability and how they can provide suitable assistance to vulnerable customers.

### 3.2.5 Customers experiencing payment difficulties

- (1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to Part II licensees.
- (2) Where appropriate, licensees must ensure that this rule is applied to guarantors as well as ~~borrowers~~ customers.
- (3) A licensee must have a written procedure in place detailing their approach to dealing with customers experiencing payment difficulties. When dealing with vulnerable customers experiencing difficulties, additional consideration must be given to forbearance.
- (4) When dealing with customers experiencing repayment difficulties, licensees must give due consideration to applying some form of forbearance, including, but not limited to –
  - (a) repayment holidays;
  - (b) temporarily halting charges;
  - (c) restructuring repayment schedules.
- (5) Where a customer is a High Net Worth Individual, (1)-(4) do not apply, unless the provision of services relate to an equity release arrangement finance.

### 3.2.6 Periodic information and closing statements

- (1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to Part II licensees.
- (2) Licensees that are credit providers must provide customers who have a regulated agreement, at least annually, with a report showing –
  - (a) interest charged;
  - (b) payments made;

- (c) the outstanding principal of loan remaining; and

when no further sums are due, send the customer a closing statement confirming the loan is fully repaid.

#### **Guidance**

Where appropriate, licensees should provide the report more frequently including, but not limited to, when the regulated agreement has a duration of 12 months or less.

Where the credit provided is home reversion finance, the report should cover the following –

- any amounts charged under the agreement during the statement period;
- the proportion of the property that is owned by the reversion provider and reversion occupier respectively; and
- where more than one payment is made to the customer during the life of the agreement, details of any payments made by the reversion provider.

### **3.3 Complaints**

- (1) A licensee must –

- (a) have and comply with a written procedure for the effective consideration and fair, proper, and timely handling of complaints;
- (b) maintain a log of all complaints and their current status;
- (c) as appropriate, explain the complaints handling process to customers;
- (d) keep the complainant informed about the progress of the complaint including details of any actions being taken to resolve the complaint, except where this conflicts with or is prohibited under another law;
- (e) inform the complainant that, in cases of significant complaints or where a complaint remains unresolved for longer than three months, the licensee is under an obligation to inform the Commission of the complaint;



- (f) on agreement with the complainant, ensure that the matter is settled as soon as possible;
  - (g) where the complaint is not upheld, clearly state the reason for rejecting the complaint and inform the complainant of their right to refer the complaint to the CIFO; and
  - (h) advise the complainant when the complaint is considered closed.
- (2) Where the status of the complaint is closed, the licensee should ensure that the following information is retained -
  - (a) the nature of the complaint;
  - (b) the reason for the closure of the complaint; and
  - (c) where applicable, details of any agreed compensation.

### **3.4 Customer money**

#### **3.4.1 Application**

- (1) This rule applies to all licensees holding customer money.

#### **3.4.2 Customer money**

- (1) Customer money must be held separately, from the licensee's own money, in one or more dedicated customer money bank accounts.
- (2) Customer money may be held in a different currency to that in which it was received.

### 3.4.3 Customer money bank accounts

- (1) All customer money, received by the licensee, and all money payable to the licensee which becomes customer money, must be held in a customer money bank account with an approved bank.
- (2) When a licensee opens a customer money bank account it must give written notice, to the bank, requiring the bank's written acknowledgment that –
  - (a) all money standing to the credit of that account is held by the licensee as trustee and that the bank is not entitled to combine the account with that of any other account, or to exercise any right of set-off or counter-claim against money in that account, in respect to any sum owed to it on any other account of the licensee;
  - (b) interest earned on the account will be credited to the account or to an account of the same type; and
  - (c) the title of the account sufficiently distinguishes the account from any other account containing money that belongs to the licensee and is in the form requested by the licensee,unless the bank provides this automatically.
- (3) If, where a customer money bank account is held with an approved bank outside Guernsey, the bank declines to provide the acknowledgment in subsection (2), or if the licensee has any other ground for believing that customer money will not be protected as effectively as it would be if held in a customer money bank account in Guernsey, the licensee must not pay or transfer customer money into that account.
- (4) Customer money held, or received, by a licensee must either be paid into a customer money bank account, or to the customer, as soon as possible and not later than the next business day.

- (5) Money held, or received, by a licensee, in the form of a cheque, draft, or electronic transfer, drawn down in favour of the licensee, which includes customer money, must be paid into a customer money bank account unless it represents money payable to one customer only in which case it may be endorsed over, or paid to, the customer concerned or dealt with as the customer instructs.
- (6) Money received, which is not customer money, must be paid out of the customer money bank account no later than one business day after the day on which the money has been cleared.
- (7) Subsection (6) does not apply to amounts of less than £100.

#### 3.4.4 Payments from customer money bank accounts

- (1) Money ceases to be customer money if it is paid –
  - (a) to the customer;
  - (b) into a bank account in the name of the customer, not being an account which is also in the name of the licensee; or
  - (c) to the licensee itself, where it is due and payable to the licensee.
- (2) The following items may be withdrawn from a customer money bank account –
  - (a) money, which is not customer money, paid into the account for the purposes of opening or maintaining the account;
  - (b) money paid into the account in contravention of these Rules;
  - (c) money properly required for payment to or on behalf of a customer;
  - (d) money properly required for, or towards, payment of fees or commissions payable to the licensee and specified in a statement delivered to the customer showing how those fees and commissions have been calculated;

- (e) money drawn on a customer's authority or in conformity with any agreement between the licensee and the customer;
  - (f) money which may be properly transferred into another customer money bank account;
  - (g) if a cheque is paid into a customer money bank account and that cheque includes money which is not customer money, that money must be withdrawn from the account; and
  - (h) interest, provided the licensee has written consent from the customer to retain any interest accruing on customer money.
- (3) Money must not be withdrawn from a customer money bank account for, or towards, payment of fees or commissions payable to the licensee unless the basis of calculation of those fees or commissions have been disclosed, in writing, and agreed by the customer.
- (4) Where a licensee draws a cheque, or other payable order, the money does not cease to be customer money until the cheque, or order, is dispatched.
- (5) Where a licensee makes a payment to a customer, from an account other than a customer money bank account, the sum of money in the customer money bank account, equivalent to the amount of that payment, will not become due and payable, to the licensee, until the customer, or other party, has received that payment in cleared funds.
- (6) Where a licensee has contracted to rebate commission to a customer, the amount becomes customer money when it becomes payable and must be settled within the timeframe agreed.
- (7) No money, other than money required to be paid under these Rules, must be paid into such an account unless the money is the licensee's own money and it is –
  - (a) required to be paid for the purpose of opening or maintaining the account and the amount is the minimum amount required for the purpose; or

- (b) paid to restore, in whole or in part, any money paid out of the account in contravention of these Rules, or to restore the account out of an overdraft position.

#### 3.4.5 Operation of customer money bank accounts

- (1) A licensee must maintain records sufficient to demonstrate compliance with this section.
- (2) A licensee must, at least once a month, reconcile the balance on each customer money bank account, as recorded by the licensee, with the balance on that account as set out in the statement issued by the bank.
- (3) The customer money bank account must not become overdrawn and there must not be a shortfall in customer money upon reconciliation with the statement issued by the bank.
- (4) In the event of a breach, the licensee must, immediately, restore the account and remedy any shortfall.

### **3.5 Annual Percentage Rate ("APR") and total charge for credit – Regulated credit agreements**

#### 3.5.1 Application

- (1) This rule applies to regulated agreements.

#### 3.5.2 Total charge in relation to consumer credit agreements

- (1) The total charge for credit under an agreed, or prospective, consumer credit agreement is the total cost of the credit, to the customer, determined in accordance with the requirements of subsections (2) to (5).
- (2) Subject to (3), the following costs must be included in the total cost of credit to the customer –

- (a) any fee or charge payable, by the customer, to any intermediary, in connection with the agreement;
  - (b) the costs of maintaining an account recording both payment transactions and drawdowns;
  - (c) the costs of using a means of payment for both payment transactions and drawdowns;
  - (d) other costs relating to payment transactions.
- (3) The costs at (2) must not be included in the total cost of credit to the customer where –
  - (a) the opening of the account is optional and the costs of the account have been clearly and separately shown in the regulated credit agreement or in any other agreement made with the customer; and
  - (b) in the case of an overdraft facility, the costs do not relate to that facility.
- (4) Costs, in respect of ancillary services, must be included in the total cost of credit to the customer if the conclusion of a service contract is compulsory in order to obtain the credit or to obtain it on the terms and conditions marketed.
- (5) The total cost of credit must not include –
  - (a) any charges payable by or on behalf of the customer for non-compliance with their commitments contained in the regulated agreement; or
  - (b) charges which, for the purchases of goods or services, the customer is obliged to pay whether the transaction is effected in cash or credit.
- (6) The total cost of credit must not take account of any discount, reward (including cash-back), or other benefit to which the customer might be entitled, whether such an entitlement is subject to conditions or otherwise.

- (7) All intermediaries and ancillary service providers must disclose their fee to the credit provider.
- (8) Credit providers must take reasonable steps to ascertain whether a fee is payable to the ancillary service provider and intermediary and, if so, the amount of the fee.

**Guidance**

In this rule 'intermediary' includes, but is not limited to, credit brokers and introducers.

An ancillary service is a service that relates to the provision of credit and includes, in particular, an insurance or payment protection policy.

The total cost of credit includes all fees or charges payable, by the customer, to any intermediary, if the fee or charge is known to the credit provider. Credit providers should ensure that intermediaries inform them of any charges made, to customers, in connection with the provision of a credit agreement.

The Commission would expect that any fees payable, to the credit broker, are clearly set out in any contractual agreement between the credit provider and the credit broker.

### 3.5.3 Total charge for home finance agreements

- (1) The total charge for credit under an agreed, or prospective, home finance agreement must be calculated following the method set out at Schedule 2.

### 3.5.4 Calculation of the APR

- (1) The APR must be calculated in accordance with the formula set out at Schedule 2.

### 3.6 Business transfer

- (1) A licensee must obtain the prior written consent, of the Commission, in respect of any transfer of a block of business, for which they require a licence under the Law, to or from the licensee where such transfer will occur at the licensee's instigation or with their agreement.

#### **Guidance**

For the avoidance of doubt, a person acquiring a block of business for which a licence is required will require a licence or exemption under the Law.

### 3.7 Promotion and Advertising

#### 3.7.1 Application and responsibility

- (1) Rule 3.7 applies to all promotional material and advertising regardless of how it is published and includes information published online, via electronic media and on social media.
- (2) Rule 3.7 applies to any promotion of, or on behalf of, the licensee by social media influencers, paid or otherwise.
- (3) The licensee is, at all times, responsible for all financial promotions and advertisements, that relate to their products and services, whether published or issued directly by the licensee or by others.

#### 3.7.2 Issue of materials

- (1) The licensee must ensure that any materials issued –
  - (a) are clearly identifiable as advertisements;
  - (b) are clear, fair, and not misleading;
  - (c) do not contain any statement, promise, or forecast which is untrue;



- (d) are not designed in such a way as to distort or conceal any relevant subject material;
  - (e) do not employ phrases such as “tax-free” or “tax-paid” without making it clear which taxes are being referred to;
  - (f) not contain information about past performance unless it contains a warning that past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance; and
  - (g) are not likely to be misunderstood.
- (2) A licensee must take all reasonable steps to ensure that advertisements and communications do not violate the laws of the Bailiwick of Guernsey and, if advertising outside the Bailiwick, the legislation in force in that jurisdiction.
  - (3) The regulatory status of the licensee is to be included in all communications, in relation to regulated activities, and it is not to be used in a way which is misleading.
  - (4) A licensee should not signify in any way that an advertisement or promotional material is approved by the Commission.

#### **Guidance**

Licensee should have regard to the UK Code of Non-broadcast Advertising and Direct and Promotional Marketing (the “CAP Code”), as issued by the Advertising Standards Authority.

### 3.7.3 Specific requirements of Part II Licensees

- (1) If an advertisement or promotion includes the cost of credit, or indicative repayment values, it must include total cost of credit and the structure and value of all repayments.
- (2) If a licensee includes indicative interest rates in an advertisement or promotion it must be an APR calculated in accordance with Schedule 3.

- (3) Where an indicative or example APR is used, there must be an accompanying example and explanation showing that the actual rate may be different.
- (4) Any indicative rates used must be available to customers and fairly represent an APR that is readily obtainable.

#### 3.7.4 Virtual asset advertisements

- (1) A person intending to advertise virtual assets or virtual asset services in the Bailiwick, who does not hold a Part III VASP licence, must obtain prior written approval from the Commission, and must abide by any conditions set out in that approval.

##### **Guidance**

##### **Guidance for Part II Licensees**

In order to ensure that they treat customers fairly, licensees should follow the principle that promotions and advertising should be fair, transparent, and honest. They should include sufficient information for customers to understand the cost of credit provided, and to make clear the likely total cost of credit for a customer who takes up the credit arrangements on offer.

## PART 4 PRUDENTIAL

### 4.1 Insurance

#### 4.1.1 Application and general requirements

- (1) This rule only applies to –
- (a) Brokers and advisers of home finance and home reversion finance brokers; and
  - (b) Providers of home finance and home reversion finance lenders.
- (2) In addition to requirements under the minimum criteria for licensing, a licensee must always maintain insurance cover which is commensurate with the size and nature of its business activities. Cover must include professional indemnity insurance (“PII”) and insurance against employee dishonesty or fraud.

#### 4.1.2 Minimum requirement

- (1) A licensee must maintain the minimum cover as set out in (2). The board is responsible for ensuring that the insurance arrangements for the licensee are adequate. Where the licensee concludes that the amount of insurance required, for the size and nature of the business, is greater than the maximum amount set out in (2)(b) then the amount of cover the licensee is required to maintain is the higher amount.
- (2) Subject to (3), every licensee must maintain professional indemnity insurance, and employee dishonesty or fraud insurance, with the following minimum limits –
- (a) on the basis of each and every loss, cover of at least £1,000,000; and
  - (b) on an annual basis, £1,000,000, or three times income from regulated activities, whichever is greater.

- (3) Where the licensee also carries out unregulated activities, the licensee must consider whether the minimum indemnity limit of its insurance policies, and the scope of the insurance cover, are appropriate and sufficient for its business as a whole, taking into account possible claims that may also arise from the unregulated business.
- (4) Notwithstanding (3), a licensee is not required to have aggregate insurance cover exceeding £10,000,000, provided that the board of the licensee has considered and decided that such level of cover is appropriate and sufficient for its business. The licensee must be able to evidence the board's assessment if requested by the Commission.
- (5) A licensee must always maintain cover for –
- (a) negligence, errors, or omissions by the licensee or its employees;
  - (b) any liability for the dishonest or fraudulent acts of employees which may fall on licensees;
  - (c) liabilities of its employees who, in the course of their duties to the licensee, perform functions in their own names;
  - (d) liabilities which the licensee might incur, in any jurisdiction, in which it should reasonably foresee that it may be held liable for damages and costs;
  - (e) where relevant, ombudsman awards; and
  - (f) legal defence costs.
- (6) This rule applies to all licensees from the date on which the licence was issued by the Commission.

## 4.2 Financial resources

### 4.2.1 Application

- (1) This Rule does not apply to licensees who hold a licence issued under –
- (a) The Banking Supervision (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2020; or
  - (b) The Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2002
- unless those licensees also hold a Part III VASP licence under the Law.

### 4.2.2 Requirements

- (1) Subject to (2), licensees must ensure that –
- (a) sufficient liquid assets are always held in reserve in order to allow for an orderly wind-down over a three-month period;
  - (b) the level of these assets is monitored and checked on a quarterly basis, at least; and
  - (c) the Commission is notified, immediately, where it is found that there are no longer sufficient assets to comply with this rule and the steps which are being taken to rectify this.
- (2) Liquid assets of a licensee are calculated as the sum of –
- (a) current assets after the deduction of any illiquid assets;
  - (b) deduction of current liabilities; and
  - (c) adjustments to allow for qualifying items.

**Guidance Note:****Illiquid Assets**

Examples of current assets which are considered illiquid are included in the list below. The list is not exhaustive and therefore a licensee must exercise appropriate judgement when making the adjustment to ensure that assets which could be considered illiquid within a 90-day period are excluded in order to achieve the objective of the liquidity requirements.

1. Debtors which exceed 90 days from the invoice date.
2. Work In Progress which is not receivable within 90 days of the date of the calculation.
3. Any prepayments which relate to goods or services to be received or performed after 90 days of the date of the calculation.
4. Restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents.
5. Amounts due from related parties.

5.1 All amounts due from related parties are considered illiquid unless they are in the normal course of business and the outstanding balances are settled within 90 days. A loan to a related party is not typically considered liquid, even if it could be recovered within 90 days, as this would not be in the normal course of business; and

5.2 Amounts due from related parties cannot be netted-off against amounts due to related parties unless there is a legally enforceable netting agreement in place.

6. Any other items permitted by the Commission.

**Qualifying Items**

The following list contains items which may be used to adjust the liquid assets when calculating the liquidity requirement.

1. Deferred income – Where a licensee has received income which is billed in advance of it providing the services.
2. Any other items permitted by the Commission.

- (3) VASPs must meet the individual requirements set by the Commission.

## **PART 5 COOPERATION WITH THE COMMISSION**

### **5.1 General provision**

- (1) A licensee must deal openly and honestly with, and cooperate with, the Commission and any other regulatory authorities to whose supervision they are subject.

### **5.2 Notification by a licensee**

- (1) A licensee must notify the Commission in writing as soon as is practicable but, in any case, within 14 days of becoming aware of any of the following –
  - (a) any significant changes to the information submitted as part of an application for a licence;
  - (b) any matter that might reasonably be expected to affect its ability to –
    - (i) fulfil the minimum criteria for licensing;
    - (ii) undertake its regulated activities; or
    - (iii) comply with the Rules;
  - (c) the refusal to grant any application made, either by the licensee, or any holding company, or subsidiary, for authorisation to carry on any financial services business in any jurisdiction;
  - (d) the revocation, or the attachment of any condition, restriction, or variation to an authorisation for the licensee, its holding company, or subsidiary, to carry on any financial services business in any jurisdiction;

- (e) the commencement of proceedings against a licensee, its holding company, or subsidiary, in any jurisdiction;
- (f) the appointment of anyone acting under any regulatory authority to investigate the affairs of the licensee, its holding company, or subsidiary;
- (g) the imposition of disciplinary measures, or sanctions, against the licensee, its holding company, or subsidiary, by any regulatory authority;
- (h) the conviction of the licensee, its holding company, or subsidiary, or any personnel, of any offence, under any jurisdiction, relating to financial services, companies, or insolvency laws where such offences involve fraud, dishonesty, money laundering, or tax evasion;
- (i) with regard to outsourcing –
  - (i) any significant outsourcing arrangements entered into;
  - (ii) any material changes to significant outsourcing arrangements; and
  - (iii) where there is a failure of an outsourced service provider, or other breakdown in the provision of outsourced services, which causes significant disruption to the licensee's business;
- (j) with regard to PII –
  - (i) when a notification under a PII policy is made to its insurer; or
  - (ii) if there is any payment made, by the insurers, under the PII cover;



- (k) with regard to complaints –
    - (i) of any significant complaint made against the licensee;
    - (ii) when the licensee has been unable to resolve a complaint within three months of the date of the initial receipt of the complaint; or
    - (iii) when a complaint is upheld by the CIFO;
  - (l) the imposition of a sanction against the licensee following a breach determination by the Data Protection Authority; and
  - (m) a winding up event, as defined in the Enforcement Powers Law, in respect of licensees, their holding companies, or their subsidiaries.
- (2) Notifications made under [subrules](#) 5.2(1)(m), relating directly to the licensee, must be followed by a cessation of business plan setting out arrangements that the licensee proposes to put in place in relation to its customers.

## **PART 6 CONSUMER PROTECTION AND UNFAIR AGREEMENT TERMS**

### **6.1 Application**

- (1) Part 6 applies to all regulated agreements between customers and credit providers and all agreements to provide ancillary services in connection with regulated agreements.

### **6.2 Unfair agreement terms**

- (1) A term, within an agreement covered by this Part, will be unfair if, contrary to the requirements of good faith, it causes significant imbalance in the parties' rights and obligations, to the detriment of the customer.
- (2) The following terms will be considered unfair and must not be used in agreements covered by this Part: –
  - (a) terms which exclude or restrict a business' liability arising from a breach of customer rights provided by law;
  - (b) terms which relieve a business from providing services with reasonable skill and care; and
  - (c) terms that the Commission deems to be unfair.
- (3) Where an agreement, covered by this Part, includes any terms which would be considered to be unfair under subsection 2, then those clauses, containing the unfair terms, will be unenforceable.
- (4) Licensees must not enforce unfair terms.

- (5) Customers must be provided with redress in cases where unfair terms have been enforced and must be returned to the position they would have been in had the unfair terms been voided.
- (6) The Commission retains discretion as to which terms it deems to be unfair. Terms which, in most circumstances, would be considered unfair are set out at Schedule 4.

### **Guidance**

In considering unfair contract terms, the Commission will apply tests of fairness and transparency.

#### *Fairness Test*

This takes account of the subject matter of the agreement, all the circumstances existing when the term was agreed, and all the other terms of the agreement or any other relevant agreement. The test is concerned with the effect that the terms can have and not just the intentions behind them.

There are three elements to the Fairness Test: Significant Imbalance, Customer Detriment, and Good Faith.

- Significant Imbalance – is concerned with the parties' rights and obligations under the agreement. A term is unfair if it is so weighted in favour of the business that it tilts the rights and obligations significantly in its favour (for instance, by imposing a disadvantageous burden on the customer).

This is not restricted to cases in which a purely financial burden, or cost, is imposed on the customer; the focus should be upon the customer's legal rights and obligations generally.

A contract may be considered balanced if both parties enjoy rights of equal extent and value, taking into account the nature of the agreement.

- Customer Detriment – A finding of unfairness does not require proof that a term has already caused actual harm. The fairness assessment is concerned with rights and duties and its focus is on potential, not actual, outcomes.
- Good Faith – relates to the substance of terms as well as the way they are expressed. It is based on the general principle of 'fair and open dealing', where terms are expressed fully, clearly, and legibly, and with due respect for the customer's interests.

#### *Transparency*

This assessment relates to how an agreement is expressed. Agreements, made with customers, should be expressed in plain, understandable language, and be legible. Licensees should aim to put customers into a position where they can make a balanced and informed decision whether or not to enter into an agreement.

## **PART 7 PART II LICENCES**

### **7.1 Requirement for multiple licences**

- (1) Subject to the provisions in subsection (2), holders of licences under any of the regulatory Laws who also carry on activities regulated under Part II of the Law must hold a Part II Licence.
- (2) Holders of licences, under Part II of the Law, are not required to hold Part III FFB licences.

### **7.2 General Obligations**

- (1) All Part II Licence holders must fulfil the minimum criteria for licensing as set out at Schedule 4 to the Law.
- (2) All Part II Licence holders must treat their customers fairly and follow the Principles of Conduct of Finance Business, as set out at Schedule 1.

### **7.3 Equivalence**

- (1) Any business regulated in another jurisdiction, to undertake activities which would, if they were undertaken in the Bailiwick, require a Part II Licence to be held, will be exempt from the requirement to hold a Part II Licence where the business –
  - (a) is regulated in a jurisdiction set out in The Lending, Credit and Finance (Designated Jurisdiction and Fees) Regulations, 2023, for those relevant activities (an “equivalent jurisdiction”); and
  - (b) has notified the Commission that it intends to carry out regulated activities within the Bailiwick.

#### **7.4 Applications and regulated activities**

- (1) Applications for licences must specify the regulated activities which the applicant intends to engage in.
- (2) Licensees must not engage in any regulated activities outside of those declared on the original licence application without the prior, written, approval of the Commission.

#### **7.5 Appointed retailers and appointed motor traders**

- (1) Appointed retailers and appointed motor traders must be subject to a formal, written, contract of engagement between the licensee and the appointed retailer or appointed motor trader.
- (2) The conduct of the appointed retailer or appointed motor trader is the responsibility of the licensee, and the licensee must –
  - (a) ensure the appointed retailer or appointed motor trader is aware of and acts in compliance with these Rules;
  - (b) provide appropriate training, with respect to the provision of its services, to the appointed retailer or appointed motor trader and relevant employees, including, but not limited to –
    - (i) dealing with credit applications; and
    - (ii) recognising vulnerable customers.

### **Guidance**

#### **Appointed retailers and appointed motor traders**

Appointed retailers and motor traders may offer and promote third party credit from a provider. Firms carrying out these activities, but not meeting the requirements for being appointed retailers or motor traders (e.g. they do not have a written agreement with a third party lender) may be considered to be credit providers, in their own right, or providers of services ancillary to the provision of credit, and will require their own licence under Part II of the Law.

While appointed retailers and motor traders are not licensed and are not directly accountable for compliance with the Rules, in respect of any regulated activity carried on by a third-party lender, the Commission may wish to visit them to understand how responsibilities are managed by the licensed credit provider.

## **7.6 Early repayment**

- (1) Licensees must allow customers to make full early repayment of the principal of the credit provided under a regulated agreement.
- (2) The maximum early repayment fee, that licensees can charge, must be calculated in accordance with the requirements set out in Schedule 3.
- (3) The same limits apply where the licensee accepts a partial early repayment.

## **7.7 Information to customers**

- (1) In addition to the requirements set out at rule 3.2.1, licensees must ensure that the following information is provided to customers, in writing, before entering into a regulated agreement –
  - (a) the interest payable, including the APR;
  - (b) the total cost of the credit;

- (c) the repayment schedule, including the value and timing of all repayments;
  - (d) details of the cooling-off period, or period of reflection; and
  - (e) the arrangements for early repayment, including any fees or charges for early repayment.
- (2) Where the regulated agreement concerns home reversion finance, (a) and (c) do not apply.

## 7.8 Cooling-off period

### 7.8.1 Application

- (1) This Rule does not apply to customers who are classified as High Net Worth Individuals, except where the provision of services relates to an equity release finance arrangement.

### 7.8.2 Regulated agreements, excluding home finance and equity release agreements

- (1) For regulated agreements which are not home finance agreements and are not equity release finance, licensees must allow customers a cooling-off period of no less than two weeks from the date on which the agreement is entered into.
- (2) During the cooling-off period licensees must allow customers to cancel the regulated agreement, subject to the customer returning any credit provided, or, if the customer has already received goods or services as part of the regulated agreement, repaying the outstanding principle principal.
- (3) Licensees must allow customers a reasonable amount of time to return any credit provided or to repay any outstanding principle principal.
- (4) Licensees must not impose additional charges or fees when the customer decides to cancel the regulated agreement before the loan is drawn down or any goods, or services, are provided.

- (5) Any fee charged in relation to the cancellation of a regulated agreement, during the cooling-off period, must be based on the costs to the licensee and not a percentage of the value of credit.

#### 7.8.3 Home finance [and home reversion finance](#) agreements

- (1) For home finance [and home reversion finance](#) agreements, licensees must allow customers a period of reflection of not less than seven days from the date the licensee makes a final and unconditional offer of credit.
- (2) During the period of reflection licensees must not withdraw or amend the offer.
- (3) During the period of reflection licensees must not actively pursue or pressure the customer into accepting the offer of credit.
- (4) When a property transaction, associated with a home finance agreement, does not proceed, licensees must allow the customer to return any drawn down funds and cancel the agreement. In these circumstances, the licensee must not charge any additional fees.

### 7.9 Maximum cost of credit

- (1) For regulated agreements that are not home finance agreements [and are not home reversion finance agreements](#), the total cost of credit must not exceed 100% of the principal value of the credit provided.

### 7.10 Treatment of surplus following default

- (1) When a licensee takes possession of assets provided as security, as a result of a borrower defaulting on their obligations under a regulated agreement, whether via *saisie* proceedings or otherwise, any surplus realised from the sale of those assets must be returned to the [borrower customer](#).
- (2) When a licensee sells assets, as a result of a default on a regulated agreement, they must do so on an arms-length basis and take reasonable steps to realise a market value for those assets.



- (3) In this rule, “surplus” refers to the amount left over, from the sale of the assets, following the settlement of the amount outstanding on the regulated agreement, and the licensee’s reasonable expenses generated in the course of realising the security assets and any other amount payable by the licensee to other creditors of the borrower-customer in accordance with the *saisie* process.

### 7.11 Appointed Service Providers

- (1) When a licensee is an Appointed Service Provider (“ASP”), to an exempt private lender, they must –
- (a) have a written agreement in place for each private lender they represent;
  - (b) ensure that each private lender complies with –
    - (i) all rules relating to regulated agreements;
    - (ii) the Handbook; and
    - (iii) any conditions, on the exemption, issued by the Commission;
  - (c) report, to the Commission on an annual basis, on the activities of the private lenders they represent; and
  - (d) notify the Commission of any significant changes in circumstances of the private lenders they represent.

### 7.12 Restrictions on further credit

- (1) Licensees must not restrict customers from taking further loans-credit with other credit providers.

## PART 7A PART II LICENCES – EQUITY RELEASE

### 7.13 Application

- (1) All Rules and Guidance in this Part apply only to licensees providing ~~and~~ or advising on equity release regulated agreements, unless otherwise stated.

### 7.14 Customer age

- (1) A licensee must assess the age of a customer, or customers, to an equity release regulated agreement, when deciding on the suitability of an equity release product to the circumstances of that customer, or customers.

#### Guidance

~~The age of the customer from which a licensee wishes to offer an equity release product is at the discretion of that licensee. Nevertheless, this should form part of a consideration of numerous~~ Licensees have full discretion to set a minimum age for the customers to whom they intend to offer equity release products. In any event, the age of a customer should form only one of the factors taken into consideration by a licensee when deciding whether to offer an equity release product, with other relevant **factors, including**, ~~but not limited to, the a~~ **customer's health and lifestyle, employment plans, and pension entitlement.**

A licensee should strongly consider only offering equity release products to those customers who are of fifty years of age and above.

For the avoidance of doubt, where there is more than one customer, this would mean ensuring that the youngest customer is above the age of fifty.

### 7.15 Excessive charging

- (1) A licensee must ensure that its charges to a customer<sup>7</sup> are not excessive.

#### Guidance

When determining whether a charge is excessive, a licensee should consider –

1. The amount of its charges for the services or products in question compared with similar products or services on the market;
2. The degree to which the charges are an abuse of the trust that the customer has placed in the licensee; and
3. The nature and extent of the disclosure of the charges to the customer.

### 7.16 Protection of customers

- (1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to licensees providing equity release finance regulated agreements.
- (2) A licensee must ensure that the interests of its customers are protected to a reasonable standard.

#### Guidance

The following are examples, and not an exhaustive list, of circumstances that a licensee should consider, when assessing how the customer would be protected in the event of –

1. The failure of the equity release provider.
2. The transfer of the equity release provider's interest in the property to a third party.
3. Other dealings by the equity release provider with a third party; or
4. The equity release provider's failure to perform obligations owed to third parties, or imposed by statute.

The steps that a licensee might take in order to protect the interest of its customers will depend on a number of factors and if it is not possible to achieve reasonable protection, then a licensee should not enter into, arrange or administer ~~an~~ equity release finance ~~regulated agreement~~.

- (3) A licensee must not ~~enter into an~~ provide equity release finance ~~regulated agreement~~, or agree to do so, with a customer, unless the customer has submitted an application for that form of equity release.

#### **Guidance**

The licensee should ensure that the customer receives details of the particular equity release finance product ~~regulated agreement~~ for which they have applied, and has the opportunity to satisfy themselves that it is appropriate for them.

The application should identify the equity release provider and (for lifetime mortgages) the type and rate of interest charged, ~~rate, rate of interest and the equity release provider~~ at the point that it is submitted by the customer.

### **7.17 Fair treatment of customers**

- (1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to licensees providing equity release finance ~~regulated agreements~~.
- (2) A licensee must pay due regard to the interests of its customer and treat them fairly when drafting, amending the terms of, or imposing obligations or exercising rights or discretions, in relation to equity release finance.

### **Guidance**

For example, a licensee is unlikely to be treating a customer fairly, if, upon termination of an agreement concerning ~~under a~~ home reversion finance ~~plan~~, the customer does not receive the value of their beneficial interest in the property.

A licensee is also unlikely to be treating a customer fairly if, during the course of a home reversion finance ~~agreement-plan~~:

1. the customer is obliged to maintain the property to a standard which exceeds the standard that the property is in when the home reversion finance ~~plan~~ commences;
2. unreasonable restrictions are imposed on who may occupy the property, taking into account the potential needs of the customer throughout the duration of the home reversion finance ~~plan~~;
3. unreasonable restrictions are imposed on the uses to which the property may be put;
4. the customer is unreasonably treated as having abandoned the property. For example, it is likely to be unreasonable to treat a property as abandoned based only on a period of non-occupation; or
5. where the customer has a reasonable expectation that the home reversion finance ~~plan~~ can be transferred to another property, agreement to such transfer is, or can be, refused unreasonably.

For the avoidance of doubt, this ~~sub~~-rule is in addition to the general obligations of Part II licence holders to treat customers fairly (as set out under Rule 7.2).

### **7.18 Independent legal advice**

- (1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to licensees providing home reversion finance equity release regulated agreements.
- (2) A licensee must obtain from its customer's legal adviser, before the customer enters into a home reversion finance ~~an equity release regulated agreement~~, confirmation that –

- (a) the legal adviser has been instructed to ensure that the customer's legal rights under the agreement are protected to a reasonable standard; and
- (b) the legal adviser has explained to the customer the customer's legal rights and obligations under the agreement.

### Guidance

It is strongly recommended that a customer receive independent legal advice before entering into any form of equity release finance.

A legal adviser's role in providing independent legal advice is to ensure the customer fully understands the terms and conditions of the equity release finance, including any potential risks and implications.

The matters which the legal adviser should explain to the customer, or draw the customer's attention to, include but are not limited to –

- Where the equity release finance is a lifetime mortgage; the circumstances in which it becomes repayable, and the circumstances in which the property will have to be sold and what will happen to the proceeds,
- Where the equity release finance is home reversion finance; the depletion of the customer's estate due to the sale of the property (or part of it),
- Where the equity release finance is either a lifetime mortgage or home reversion finance; that the amount of state or other benefits to which the customer may be entitled, either now or in the future, may be reduced as a result of proceeding with the equity release finance, that the customer may wish to discuss the matter with any heirs or beneficiaries due to the subsequent reduction of the estate proceeds or funding available for the customer's long-term care, and provisions around portability and life tenancy.

The confirmation that a licensee should receive from its customer's legal adviser before that customer enters into a home reversion finance agreement should include at a minimum the matters set out in 7.18 2(a) and (b). However, it is strongly recommended that the licensee also seeks confirmation that;

- The legal adviser has set out the risks and rewards of the equity release product to the customer,
- The legal adviser holds a current practising certificate and has the benefit of appropriate professional indemnity insurance,
- The legal adviser has witnessed the customer's (or attorney's) signature on any documents which are required to be executed as deeds,

- The legal adviser has verified (insofar as they are reasonably able to) –
  - The customer's (or attorney's) identity and signature,
  - That the customer (or attorney) is not under duress or undue influence to enter into the equity release contract,
  - That in the case of joint customers (or attorneys), each agrees to enter into the equity release contract,
  - That, in the case of the equity release contract being entered into by an attorney on behalf of a customer, the Power of Attorney or representative under which the equity release contract is to be made is valid and correctly executed.

A licensee should also ensure the confirmation from the customer's legal adviser is signed by both the legal adviser and the customer.

- (3) Equity release ancillary service providers must disclose any links they have with specific law firms to the customer.

#### **Guidance**

For the purposes of this ~~sub~~-rule, all references to "legal adviser" shall mean the individual, and/or legal firm, that is providing the customer with legal advice, in relation to ~~an~~ equity release finance, and may include an advocate, solicitor, barrister or anyone qualified to provide legal advice.

### **7.19 Prohibition on cold calls**

- (1) A licensee must not make cold calls in connection with equity release products.

### **7.20 Restrictions on use of terms**

- (1) Any communication, which includes reference to a lifetime mortgage, as defined under subsection 90(1) of the Law, ~~rule 12.1(2)~~, must refer to any such product as a "lifetime mortgage" and not use any other expression to describe it.

- (2) Any communication, which includes reference to a home reversion finance plan, as defined under subsection 90(1) of the Law, ~~rule 12.1(2)~~, must refer to any such product as a “home reversion finance plan” and not use any other expression to describe it.

## **7.21 Partial home reversion finance plans**

- (1) This ~~sub-rule~~ only applies to licensees providing home reversion finance plans.
- (2) A licensee must take reasonable steps to ensure that, when a home reversion plan finance ends and the customer retains a beneficial interest in the property –
- (a) The property is sold within a reasonable period of time; and
- (b) The property is sold at the best price that might reasonably be obtained.
- (3) Following the conclusion of a home reversion finance plan, where the customer ~~retains~~ has retained a beneficial interest in the property ~~and the licensee has sold the property~~, the licensee must return the value of that interest to the customer ~~also ensure that the funds or otherwise, reflective of that beneficial interest in the property and owed to the customer, are delivered to the customer~~ within a reasonable timeframe, following the sale of the property.

### **Guidance**

For the purposes of Rule 7.21, a home reversion finance agreement ends or concludes when the reversion occupier’s entitlement to occupy the property ends. This entitlement ends following the occurrence of one or more qualifying termination events, as defined under section 90(1) of the Law.

A balance must be struck between the need to sell the property as soon as possible, and other factors, such as market conditions, which may prompt the delay of the sale. Legitimate reasons for deferring a sale might include the expiry of a period when a grant is repayable on re-sale, or the discovery of a title defect that needs to be remedied, otherwise putting the potential to receive the optimal selling price at risk.



## **7.22 Equity Release Code of Practice**

- (1) All licensees providing equity release finance , or providing services ancillary to the provision of equity release, must follow the Equity Release Code of Practice, at Schedule 6 to these Rules.

## PART 8 PROVISION OF ANCILLARY SERVICES UNDER PART II LICENCES

### 8.1 General obligations

- (1) All ancillary service providers must fulfil the minimum criteria for licensing set out at Schedule 4 of the Law.
- (2) All ancillary services providers must treat their customers fairly and follow the Principles of Conduct of Finance Business set out at Schedule 1.
- (3) Ancillary service providers must disclose any links they have with specific [credit providers](#) ~~lenders~~ to the customer.
- (4) Where a licensee is both a provider of ancillary services and a credit provider it must make clear, to each customer, the capacity in which it is acting with respect to that customers credit arrangements.

#### Guidance

These general obligations apply irrespective of whether firms charge customers for their services directly or are remunerated by the ~~lender~~ [credit provider](#) through commission or any other arrangement.

Links which must be disclosed to the customer include, for example, where the service provider is part of the same group as the credit provider or has exclusive or preferential arrangements in place with the credit provider.

## 8.2 Provision of advice

- (1) Ancillary service providers must have due regard for the circumstances of the customer when providing information or offering advice on credit agreements, re-negotiations on such agreements, and debt administration.
- (2) Where an ancillary service provider searches the market for suitable credit services, on behalf of a customer, it must disclose the extent of this search to the customer.
- (3) An ancillary service provider which arranges credit with a limited number of credit providers must disclose the extent of this limitation to the customer and provide a list of the firms which it utilises.

### **Guidance**

Having due regard to the customers circumstances includes, but is not limited to, whether the product is affordable for the customer and whether there are any factors which the licensee knows, or reasonably ought to know, would make the product unsuitable for the customer.

Where an ancillary services provider uses a preferred list of credit providers, this list should be disclosed to the customer.

Providers should not purport to offer the best available products, or to search the market, when they do not do so. This may deter the customer from shopping around themselves and, potentially, identifying more suitable or better value products.

### 8.3 Debt administration

- (1) A Part II Licence must be held where debt administration activities have an effect on the terms and conditions of credit provision.
- (2) Debt administrators, requiring a Part II Licence, must follow the rules which apply to the provision of regulated agreements.
- (3) Debt administrators, providing the restructuring of home finance, must hold relevant qualifications in accordance with rule 2.14.

#### **Guidance**

Debt administration is a broad term and debt administration activities may be carried out by various ancillary service providers, as well as specialist debt counselling and debt administration service providers.

As a guide, it often involves the renegotiation, or replacement, of existing credit agreements with new, or consolidated, arrangements.

Examples of relevant effects on the terms and conditions of credit provision include, but are not limited to, restructuring, or extending debt payments.

Charities providing debt advice and counselling services do not require a Part II licence.

## **PART 8A PROVISION OF ANCILLARY SERVICES UNDER PART II LICENCES – EQUITY RELEASE**

### **8.4 Key-facts illustration**

- (1) This ~~sub-rule~~ only applies to licensees advising on equity release ~~regulated agreements finance~~.
- (2) An equity release adviser must ensure that a customer is provided with a key-facts illustration relating to the relevant product (and, in addition if the customer would like to compare the relevant product to other products, a key-facts illustration relating to those products), before proceeding with an application.
- (3) An equity release adviser must take reasonable steps to ensure that the customer understands the key-facts illustration.
- (4) The key facts illustration must be an accurate reflection of the costs and details of the equity release product.
- (5) Key-facts illustrations must comply with the requirements set out in Schedule 5 to these Rules.

#### **Guidance**

The purpose of a key-facts illustration is to set out the costs and features of an equity release product to the customer before they enter into the regulated agreement.

Although it is ultimately the responsibility of an equity release adviser to ensure that an illustration is accurate, where an adviser can show it was reasonable for it to rely on information provided to it by another person, other than the equity release provider, the adviser may be able to rely on that person.

For the avoidance of doubt, a key-facts illustration in the format, and containing the information, specified by the FCA would meet the requirements of these Rules.

Licensees should allow customers a reasonable amount of time to digest all information provided to them during the advice process.

## 8.5 Advised sales

- (1) This ~~sub-rule~~ only applies to licensees advising on equity release ~~finance regulated agreements~~.
- (2) Where an equity release adviser gives advice to a customer to enter into ~~an equity release finance regulated agreement~~, or to vary ~~an~~ existing equity release ~~finance regulated agreement~~, it must take reasonable steps to ensure that the equity release ~~finance regulated agreement~~ is, or after the variation, will be, suitable for that customer.
- (3) When assessing whether entering into, or varying an existing, equity release regulated agreement is suitable for a customer, the equity release adviser must consider –
  - (a) Whether the benefits to the customer outweigh any adverse effect on –
    - (i) the customer's entitlement (if any) to means-tested or other benefits; and
    - (ii) the customer's tax position (for example the loss of an age-related allowance);
  - (b) Any alternative methods of raising the required funds, such as –
    - (i) Taking a further advance under an existing ~~regulated mortgage contract~~ home finance agreement (including a lifetime mortgage);
    - (ii) Taking out a new ~~regulated mortgage contract~~ home finance agreement (including a lifetime mortgage) to replace an existing one; or
    - (iii) Taking out an additional release under ~~an~~ existing home reversion ~~finance plan~~;

- (c) Whether the customer's requirements appear to be within the equity release provider's known eligibility criteria for the that particular equity release finance product regulated agreement;
- (d) The customer's preferences for their estate, (for example, whether the customer wishes to be certain of leaving a bequest to their family or others);
- (e) The customer's health and life expectancy;
- (f) The customer's future plans and needs (for example, whether the customer is likely to need to raise further funds or is likely to move house);
- (g) In the case of a lifetime mortgage, whether the customer has a preference or need for stability in the amount of payments (where payments in instalments are required), especially having regard to the impact on the customer of the possibility of significant interest rate changes in the future;
- (h) Whether the customer has a preference or need for any other features of an equity release finance transaction; and
- (i) In the case of a lifetime mortgage, whether it is more appropriate for the customer to pay any fees or charges upfront, rather than adding them to the sum advanced.

## 8.6 Joint applications

- (1) This sub-rule only applies to licensees advising on equity release finance regulated agreements.
- (2) In the case of a joint application for an equity release finance regulated agreement, an equity release adviser must ensure that both customers are involved in discussions concerning the regulated agreement and that both customers have read and understood all information provided by the ancillary service provider.

## 8.7 Recommendation for independent legal advice

- (1) This rule only applies to licensees advising on equity release finance.
- (2) An equity release adviser must recommend to a customer that they obtain independent legal advice when obtaining, or seeking to obtain, equity release finance.



## **PART 9 PART III FINANCIAL FIRM BUSINESS LICENCES**

### **9.1 Requirement for multiple licences**

- (1) Holders of licences, under any of the regulatory Laws, are not required to hold Part III Financial Firm Business (“FFB”) Licences.

#### **Guidance**

Where a regulated business is exempt from the requirement for licensing but carries out an activity listed under Part A of Schedule 1 to the Law, they will be expected to follow the relevant rules made as amendments across the Commission’s regulatory rules.

Currently, there are no additional Rules made under this Part.

## PART 10 PART III VASP LICENCES

### 10.1 Requirements for multiple licences

- (1) Holders of licences, issued under any of the regulatory Laws, who carry on activities regulated under Part III VASPs, must hold a Part III VASP Licence.

### 10.2 Applications and regulated activities

- (1) Part III VASP licensees are only permitted to provide VASP services to institutional and wholesale counterparties.

#### **Guidance**

While Part III VASP licensees may not deal directly with individuals, they may provide products and services that are intended for use by individuals, on the condition that such products and services are provided through a properly regulated intermediary.

Part III VASP licensees will be required to seek the Commission's written 'no objection' before appointing an intermediary to distribute their products or services.

Part III VASPs must not offer products or services that are targeted at retail customers, even through an intermediary.

- (2) Part III VASP licensees are prohibited from dealing in, trading in, or offering –
  - (a) virtual assets, or virtual asset services, which aim to obscure the parties to the transaction; or
  - (b) virtual assets, or virtual asset services, which aim to obscure the flow of the assets.

- (3) Applications for licences must specify the VASP activities which the applicant intends to engage in.
- (4) Licensees must not engage in any VASP activities not specified on the original licence application, without the prior, written, approval of the Commission.
- (5) Part III VASP Licensees must only undertake the regulated activities permitted in accordance with their licence.

### **Guidance**

#### **Definition of virtual assets and virtual asset service providers**

The Law defines virtual assets and the activities that constitute being a virtual asset service provider when offered, or carried out, by way of business. These definitions should be interpreted broadly.

The definition of 'virtual assets' ("VAs") states that it does not include –

“...digital representations of –

- (a) fiat currencies, or
- (b) general securities and derivatives within the meaning of category 2 in Schedule 1 to the Protection of Investors Law and other financial assets.”

Digital representations of fiat currency and general securities or derivatives is intended to cover digital records of ownership, such as bank accounts in digital form and digital security registers. It would also include central bank digital currencies. It would not include stablecoins or virtual asset securitisations of real assets. If in doubt, please contact the Commission.

The Law defines VASP activities as follows –

- “(a) exchange between virtual assets and fiat currencies,
- (b) exchange between one or more forms of virtual asset,
- (c) transfer of virtual assets,
- (d) safe-keeping and/or administration of virtual assets or instruments enabling control over virtual assets,

### Guidance – continued

- (e) participation in and provision of financial services relating to an issuer's offer and/or sale of a virtual asset (including, without limitation and by way of example, an initial coin offering), whether by the issuer of the asset or a service provider affiliated or unaffiliated with the issuer in respect of the issue, offer, sale, distribution, ongoing market circulation and trading of the asset (including book-building, underwriting and market making),..."

These activities should also be interpreted broadly and generally in line with the definitions within the FATF Standards and Recommendations.

Activity (a) of the definition of a VASP refers to any activity in which VAs can be given in exchange for fiat currency or vice versa. If parties can pay for VAs using fiat currency, or can pay using VAs for fiat currency, carrying out this activity when acting by way of business is acting as a VASP. Similarly, in activity (b), if parties can use one kind of VA as means of exchange or form of payment for another VA, carrying out this activity, when acting by way of business, is acting as a VASP. It should be emphasised that activities (a) and (b) include the above activities regardless of the role the business plays vis-à-vis its users as a principal, as a central counterparty for clearing or settling transactions, as an executing facility, or as an intermediary facilitating the transaction. A person does not have to carry out every element of the exchange or transfer in order to qualify as a VASP, so long as it conducts the exchange activity by way of business.

Activity (c) of the definition of a VASP covers any activity that transfers ownership, or control, of a VA to another user, or transfers VAs between VA addresses or accounts held by the same user. "Transfer" includes moving a virtual asset from one virtual asset address or account to another. To help illustrate what this covers in practice, it is useful to consider the nature of the VA following a purported transfer. If a new party has custody or ownership of the VA, has the ability to pass control of the VA to others, or has the ability to benefit from its use, then transfer is likely to have occurred. This control does not necessarily have to be unilateral and multi-signature processes are not inherently excluded. Similarly, if a person maintains unilateral control of their assets at all times, this may indicate that "transfer" has not occurred. However, it could still fall under activity where it actively facilitates the transfer. This also includes transfers between and among users of the same VASP, including where a VASP uses an off-chain internal record-keeping system, and the VA remains in the same on-chain omnibus wallet or account.

### **Guidance – continued**

As noted in the definition, activity (e) includes activities related to Initial Coin Offerings (“ICOs”) in particular, participation in an issuer’s offer, or sale of, VAs and the provision of financial services in relation to the same. For the avoidance of doubt, financial services include activity such as promoting the issue or sale of virtual assets.

For clarity, the sole act of issuing a VA, entirely on its own, is not a VASP activity. However, any person who carries out activities of transfer or exchange, by way of business, in relation to that VA would be a VASP. The discrete act of creating VA software to issue a VA does not make the creator a VASP, unless the creator also performs the VASP activities mentioned in the definition by way of business.

When considering whether a potential licensee is carrying out VASP activities, the Commission will take a functional approach by focussing on the real and economic effect of a potential licensee’s business model and activities – and less on terminology or legal structure. For example, outsourcing the carrying out of an activity to a group company, or third party, would not remove the need for a licence.

However, providing services to a VASP, such as IT support services, cloud services, and administration services would not require a Part III VASP licence (if the service provider does not itself carry out any of the VASP activities).

In most cases a merchant that accepts payment for goods or services in VAs, or a charity that accepts donations in VAs, would not be carrying out a VASP activity, as this is generally done by using an intermediary that converts the virtual assets into fiat currency. However, the firm that facilitates the payment between the purchaser and the merchant is likely to be carrying out VASP activities. Businesses and charities that accept virtual assets should take care that they are not used as a means to exchange VAs into fiat currency by, for example, bad actors making multiple purchases or transactions, in VAs, then requesting refunds in fiat currency.

For the avoidance of doubt, VAs do not include –

- a transaction in which a person grants value as part of a store or gift card, affinity or rewards programme, where said value cannot be taken from or exchanged with the person for legal tender, bank credit, or any digital asset; or
- a digital representation of value issued by or on behalf a publisher of games and used solely within an online game, game platform, or family of games sold by the same publisher or offered on the same game platform.

The above bullet points should be read as a general description and guide, not a strict definition as there may well be a number of “on the edge” cases. If in doubt, firms should contact the Commission.

## **Guidance – continued**

### **Application and licensing process**

The Commission intends to use its Soundbox approach when considering potential Part III VASP licensees. As part of this process, when the Commission initially grants a licence to a VASP applicant it will, in most cases, have a limited duration and may be subject to a number of conditions.

These conditions may include, without limitation –

- restrictions on the volume of business the firm can carry out;
- restrictions on the kinds of business the firm can carry out;
- more frequent reporting requirements; and
- additional capital and liquidity requirements.

Following completion of the initial period of licensing, the Commission will decide whether to renew or extend the licence, how long for, and whether to amend any of the restrictions.

Given the diverse nature of potential VASP business models and activities, as part of this process the Commission may set additional requirements based on the business model and risk profile of potential licensees. Capital and conduct requirements and Rules for a virtual asset exchange are likely to be very different to those for a virtual asset custodian, for example.

## **10.3 Environmental declaration**

- (1) Part III VASP Licensees must publish information, annually, about the environmental impact of the consensus mechanisms of each virtual asset (“VA”) with which they deal; the environmental declaration.
- (2) Where a consensus mechanism requires the material consumption of resources, such as electrical or computational power, the environmental declaration relating to that VA must include –
  - (a) the carbon emissions and energy consumption of all VA transactions carried out by, or on behalf of, the licensee;

- (b) indirect carbon emissions generated by VA transactions carried out by, or on behalf of, the licensee; and
  - (c) information regarding the method of calculation and the source of data used in the calculation.
- (3) The declaration must include gross emissions as well as mitigated emissions.
- (4) The licensee must ensure that, where estimations are used, this is noted and that they are prudent.
- (5) The period covered by the declaration must be the licensee's financial year.
- (6) Annual environmental disclosures must remain readily accessible to the public and, where the licensee chooses to meet its disclosure requirements by publishing information on its website, the location must be clear and easily accessible to the public.

#### **Guidance**

All disclosures should remain published and accessible.

Licensees can make use of publicly available data and sources when calculating their emission and energy consumption but should consider the reliability of such sources and whether any assumptions are prudent and not overly optimistic. If data for part of the calculation is not available, licensees should work on a best efforts basis, while assuring any assumptions they make are prudent.

Indirect carbon emissions generated by VA transactions include, but are not limited to, emissions from the production of e-waste.

Examples of consensus mechanisms that consume resources include Proof of Work, which wastes computational power and electricity, and Proof of Space, which wastes storage space on electronic data storage systems (such as hard drives).

The environmental declaration includes Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions, as set out by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures.

#### 10.4 Safekeeping of customer virtual assets

- (1) A Part III VASP Licensee which has custody of a customer's virtual assets must –
- (a) keep safe, or arrange for the safekeeping by an eligible custodian, of –
    - (i) any documents of title;
    - (ii) cryptographic keys; or
    - (iii) any other means of control,
      - either over the customer's virtual assets or relating to them;
  - (b) ensure that virtual assets, bought or held for a customer in the course of conducting its VASP business, are properly recorded in the customer's name or, with the customer's consent, in the name of an eligible custodian or nominee with the addition, where appropriate, of an account designation name, or number, which is unique to the customer;
  - (c) ensure that customer entitlements, to virtual assets, are identifiable from those in the beneficial ownership of the licensee, and any other customer of the licensee;
  - (d) not use a customer's virtual assets for its own account unless it has obtained that customer's explicit, prior, written consent;
  - (e) where the licensee holds customers virtual assets with a nominee of the licensee, accept responsibility for the acts or omissions of that nominee;
  - (f) not lend, or arrange the lending, of a customer's virtual assets to a third party, unless –



- (i) the customer has consented, in writing, and the loan is subject to appropriate documented terms and conditions specific to the agreement with that customer;
- (ii) where customers virtual assets belonging to more than one customer are registered in the same name, each customer whose virtual assets are so registered has consented, in writing, to the lending of customer virtual assets registered in that name and each customer's entitlement is clearly ascertained;
- (iii) adequate collateral is obtained and maintained for the duration of the loan, in accordance with any written instructions given by the customer; and
- (iv) the licensee arranges for all income, inclusive of dividends, fees, or commissions; other than any fees payable to the licensee for arranging the loan; either to be paid to the customer direct or to be received, by the licensee, on the customer's account and treated as customer money unless the customer instructs otherwise.

## PART 11 PART IV LICENCES

### 11.1 Requirement for multiple licences

- (1) Holders of licences, issued under any of the regulatory Laws, who carry on activities regulated under Part IV of the Law must also hold a Part IV Licence.

### 11.2 Applications and regulated activities

- (1) Applications for licences must specify the regulated activities which the applicant intends to engage in.
- (2) Licensees must not engage in any regulated activities, outside of those declared on the original licence application, without the prior, written, approval of the Commission.

#### Guidance

NOTE: Where a Part IV Licensee carries out any of the activities requiring a licence under Part II or Part III of the Law, they must hold a Part II or Part III licence as appropriate.

### 11.3 General Obligations

- (1) Where a Part IV Licensee enters into a regulated agreement with a customer, via their platform, they must ensure that all the rules pertaining to regulated agreements are followed by the [credit provider lender](#).
- (2) Part IV Licensees must treat all users of the platform as customers.

## 11.4 Customer limits

- (1) A licensee must not allow a customer to lend, invest, or otherwise provide more than 15% of the customer's net assets via transactions on the licensee's platform, whether as a single transaction or a combination of transactions.
- (2) Net assets must not include –
  - (a) property which is the customer's primary residence;
  - (b) existing finance where the customer's primary residence has been put up as security against the loan;
  - (c) any customer rights held under a qualifying contract of insurance;
  - (d) any benefits, in the form of pensions or otherwise, which are payable on the termination of the customer's service, or on their death or retirement, and to which they, or their dependants are, or may be, entitled to;
  - (e) unless an investment is made jointly and severally by all parties, any funds the customer does not hold absolute title in;
  - (f) funds held, in security, by another financial institution; and
  - (g) funds, or assets, that have a charge, bond, or other form of security registered against them.

### Guidance

A licensee would be expected, where necessary, to collect sufficient information from their customers to be able to calculate that customer's net assets.

Part IV Licensees may rely on self-certification, from customers, setting out their net assets.

## 11.5 Information for customers

- (1) Part IV Licensees must ensure that all information provided to customers is clear, fair, and not misleading.
- (2) At a minimum, licensees must provide the following information and documents to a customer before they enter into a transaction -
  - (a) who the parties to the transaction are;
  - (b) the terms of the transaction including, but not limited to, -
    - (i) its duration;
    - (ii) all amounts payable by the customer and the timing of these payments;
    - (iii) any return payments due to the customer and the timings of these return payments;
    - (iv) how any amounts set out are calculated;
    - (v) the obligations of the customer; and
    - (vi) any rights granted to the customer;
  - (c) all income and revenue to be received, by the licensee or any associated party of the licensee, along with the basis of their calculation;
  - (d) a clear explanation of the risks of the transaction, and

a customer agreement in accordance with rule 3.2.2.

- (3) A licensee must, after a transaction has been carried out on behalf of a customer, provide the customer with a statement relating to that transaction. This statement must include -
- (a) the name and address of the licensee;
  - (b) the customer's name and account number;
  - (c) the date of the transaction;
  - (d) the final terms of the transaction, including the information set out in (2)(b); and
  - (e) any other relevant matters in relation to the transaction.

**Guidance**

Information on any rights granted to the customer would include, for example, any equity or security granted over assets.

Obligations of the customer would include, for example, any rights granted to others or any security, or charge, granted over the assets.

A clear explanation of the risks could include, but is not limited to –

- The fact that some, or all, of the customer's capital is at risk;
- That any assets used as security could be lost;
- The extent and value of any protections or guarantees that the platform operator provides.

Documents which have been provided by electronic means will fulfil the requirements of this rule.

## PART 12 GENERAL PROVISION

### 12.1 Interpretation

- (1) Terms have their ordinary meaning unless specifically defined in the Law, in which case the terms will have the same meaning or in these Rules, or unless specifically defined in these Rules.

- (2) In these Rules, the following definitions should be followed -

**“ancillary service providers”** ~~refers to~~ means Part II licence holders specifically licensed to provide such services;

**“appointed retailer”** ~~refers to~~ means a provider of services ancillary to the provision of credit who offers credit for the purchase of goods or services, via a third party licensed credit provider, whilst acting as an agent of that third party under a written agreement;

**“appointed motor trader”** ~~refers to~~ means a provider of services ancillary to the provision of credit who offers credit for the purchase of motor vehicles, via a third party licensed credit provider, whilst acting as an agent of that third party under a written agreement;

**“Appointed Service Provider”** means a Part II licensee that is appointed, by an exempt private lender, and is responsible for ensuring that the relevant rules and Anti-Money Laundering/Countering the Financing of Terrorism requirements are met by the private lender;

**“approved bank”** means a person who is licensed under The Banking Supervision (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2020, or is registered under The Banking Business (Jersey) Law, 1991, or authorised under the Isle of Man Financial Services Act 2008, or is authorised to carry on a banking or deposit-taking business under the law of the UK, of any EU member state, or under the law of any country or territory which may be listed in notices issued by the Commission;

**“Approved Equity Release Qualifications”** means those qualifications recognised by the Commission and listed on the Commission’s website;

**“Approved Home Finance Qualifications”** means those qualifications recognised by the Commission and listed on the Commission’s website;

**“Approved Qualifications”**; means both Approved Equity Release Qualifications and Approved Home Finance Qualifications; in relation to those providing advice

~~to customers relating to home finance and lending against an individual's home, are those agreed by the Commission and listed, as Approved Qualifications, on the Commission's website;~~

"attorney" has the meaning given to it in the Capacity (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2020;

"board" has the meaning given to it in the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 or, in the case of an unincorporated entity, the committee or managing board of a partnership or other similar governing body;

"block of business" means business that increases the receiving licensee's, or reduces the transferring licensee's, income by 15% or more; such figure being calculated using the last audited accounts of that licensee;

"complaint" means any oral or written expression of dissatisfaction, whether justified or not, for or on behalf of a person about the provision of, or failure to provide, a financial service which alleges that the complainant has suffered (or may suffer) financial loss, material distress, or material inconvenience;

"consumer credit" ~~refers to~~ means regulated agreements that meet the definition of subsection 6(1)(a) of the Law;

"credit provider" means a provider of credit as defined in section 4 of the Law;

"customer money" ~~is~~ means money, in any currency, which a licensee holds for, receives from, or owes to a customer, in the course of carrying out regulated activities;

#### Guidance

Customer money – A licensee holds or receives money where either that money is not immediately due and payable on demand to the licensee for its own account, or, although due and payable, is held or received in respect of any obligation of the licensee which has not yet been performed. A licensee owes money where it is due and payable to the customer.

"equity release finance" ~~refers to~~ means funding provided via regulated agreements that meet the definition of in subsection 4(3) 90(1) of the Law;

"equity release adviser" ~~refers to~~ means an individual who provides equity release advice to customers on behalf of a licensed equity release ancillary service provider;

**“equity release ancillary service provider”** ~~refers to~~ means a Part II licence holder specifically licensed to provide services ancillary to the provision of equity release finance;

**“equity release drawdown product”** means a pre-agreed facility to release additional funds without additional underwriting, up to a limit specified at the outset of the agreement;

**“equity release provider”** ~~refers to~~ means a Part II licence holder specifically licensed to provide equity release finance;

**“equivalent jurisdiction”** means a jurisdiction designated in the Lending, Credit and Finance (Designated Jurisdiction and Fees) Regulations, 2023 as having legislation for the protection of customers, clients and consumers at least equivalent to that provided by the provisions of the Law;

**“exempt private lender”** means an individual, or firm, that holds a discretionary exemption, issued by the Commission, from requiring a licence under Part II of the Law, subject to meeting a number of conditions including, but not limited to –

- (a) only making a limited number of loans per year,
- (b) maintaining a loan portfolio below a specified value,
- (c) complying with the Commission’s rules regarding their lending, and
- (d) appointing an ASP;

**“High Net Worth Individual (“HNWI”)**, means an individual who agrees to be treated as a High Net Worth Individual, and -

- (a) in relation to consumer credit agreements, an individual with net income greater than one hundred and fifty thousand pounds (£150,000) per annum, or net assets in excess of five hundred thousand pounds (£500,000), and
- (b) in relation to home finance agreements, an individual with net income greater than three hundred thousand pounds (£300,000) per annum, or net assets in excess of three million pounds (£3,000,000),

where net assets must not include the individual’s primary residence, or any loan secured on it, or the benefits of a pension, or lump sum payable, on retirement or the termination of service of the individual concerned

**“home finance agreement”** ~~refers to~~ means a regulated agreement<sup>s</sup> that meets<sup>s</sup> the definition of subsection 6(1)(b) of the Law;



~~“home reversion finance” refers to~~ means regulated agreements that meet the definition of subsection 90(1) of the Law;

~~“home reversion plan” refers to regulated agreements that meet the definition of subsection 4(3) of the Law;~~

~~“interest rate” refers to~~ means an interest rate expressed as a fixed or variable percentage applied on an annual basis to the amount of credit which has been drawn down;

~~“the Law” means the Lending, Credit and Finance (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Law, 2022;~~

~~“legal adviser” means the individual, or law firm, qualified to provide the customer with legal advice, in relation to equity release finance, and may include an advocate, solicitor, barrister or anyone else qualified to provide legal advice, or any individual working under the supervision of the above.~~

~~“lifetime mortgage” means a regulated agreement that meets the definition in subsection 90(1) of the Law; a home finance agreement (that is not a retirement interest only mortgage) under which—~~

- ~~(a) — interest or other charges may be levied on the customer or their estate; and~~
- ~~(b) — the lender may or may not specify a term for the arrangement, but will not seek full repayment of the loan (including interest, if any, outstanding) until the occurrence of one or more of the specified life events; and~~
- ~~(c) — while the customer continues to occupy the property that is subject to the arrangement as their main residence—~~
  - ~~(i) No instalment repayments of the capital and no payment of interest on the capital (other than interest charged when all or part of the capital is repaid voluntarily by the customer) are due or capable of becoming due; or~~
  - ~~(ii) Although interest payments may become due, no full or partial repayment of the capital is due or capable of becoming due; or~~

### Guidance

For the avoidance of doubt, the term “home finance agreement” includes regulated agreements that meet the definition of “lifetime mortgage” below.

~~(iii) Although interest repayments and partial repayment of the capital may become due, no full repayment of the capital is due or capable of becoming due.~~

**“mandatory payment lifetime mortgage”** means a lifetime mortgage under which the customer is required to make payments for a specific period of time;

**“open-ended credit agreement”** ~~is~~ means a credit agreement of no fixed duration and includes credit which must be repaid in full within or after a period but, once repaid, become available to be drawn down again;

**“principal”** the principal value of credit, advanced to a customer, is the amount loaned excluding any interest, fees or other charges;

**“regulated activities”** ~~are~~ means those activities requiring a licence ~~as~~ set out in sections 2, 16, 17 and 26 of the Law;

**“retirement interest-only mortgage”** means a home finance agreement—

- (a) — ~~which requires the interest accruing under it to be repaid in full over the stated term;~~
- (b) — ~~entry into which is restricted to older customers above a specified age;~~
- (c) — ~~under which the lender is not entitled to seek full repayment of the loan until the occurrence of one or more of the specified life events, unless the customer breaches their contractual obligations (including any obligation to pay interest during the term) in a way which allows the lender to terminate the agreement, and~~
- (d) — ~~which is not an arrangement under which the customer is obliged to make payments of interest and capital which are designed to repay the mortgage in full over the stated term;~~

**“roll-up interest”** means the interest accrued, ~~and added to the principal, under the terms of a lifetime mortgage, repayment of which is not required or anticipated until the agreement comes to an end, whether on expiry of the term (if any), discharge of the lifetime mortgage or the occurrence of a specified life event;~~

**“significant complaint”** means a complaint alleging a breach of the Law, bad faith, malpractice, impropriety, or repetition or recurrence of a matter previously complained of, whether significant or otherwise; ~~and~~ and

**“specified life event”** means—

- (a) — ~~the death of the customer;~~
- (b) — ~~the customer leaves the property that is subject to the arrangement to live elsewhere and has no reasonable prospect of returning (for~~

- ~~example, by becoming a permanent resident of a care home);~~
- ~~(c) — the customer acquires another property for use as their main residence;~~
  - ~~(d) — the customer sells the property subject to the arrangement; or~~
  - ~~(e) — the provider exercises its legal right to take possession of the property subject to the arrangement under the terms of the contract;~~
- ~~and~~

**“Virtual asset exchange”** means a market for the buying and selling of any of the following –

- (a) virtual assets,
- (b) instruments entitling their holders to subscribe for, or certificates representing property rights in, virtual assets,
- (c) contracts for virtual assets futures or contracts for differences referencing virtual assets, or
- (d) options to acquire or dispose of, or other rights or interest in, (a), (b) or (c) in this definition,

or the carrying on of other activities in respect of virtual assets that, in the opinion of the Commission, are those of an exchange.

## PART 13 CITATION AND COMMENCEMENT

### 13.1 Citation and commencement

- (1) These Rules may be cited as the Lending, Credit and Finance Rules 2023.
- (2) These Rules come into force on 1<sup>st</sup> February 2023.

#### **Guidance**

The Rules come into force on the 1<sup>st</sup> of February 2023 to allow the Commission to establish the framework for the regime.

The requirement to hold a licence, and subsequently be subject to the requirements set out in these Rules, will come into effect on 1<sup>st</sup> July 2023.

## **SCHEDULE 1**

### **The Principles of Conduct of Finance Business**

#### **1. Integrity**

A licensee should observe high standards of integrity and fair dealing in the conduct of its business.

#### **2. Skill, Care, and Diligence**

A licensee should act with due skill, care, and diligence towards its customers and counterparties.

#### **3. Conflicts of Interest**

A licensee should either avoid any conflict of interest arising or, where a conflict arises, should ensure fair treatment to all its customers by disclosure, internal rules of confidentiality, declining to act, or otherwise. A licensee should not unfairly place its interests above those of its customers and, where a properly informed customer would reasonably expect that the business would place their interests above its own, the business should live up to that expectation.

#### **4. Information about Customers**

A licensee should seek from customers it advises, or for whom it exercises discretion, any information about their circumstances and investment objectives which might reasonably be expected to be relevant in enabling it to fulfil its responsibilities to them.

#### **5. Information for Customers**

A licensee should take reasonable steps to give a customer it advises, in a comprehensible and timely way, any information needed to enable them to make a balanced and informed decision. A licensee should similarly be ready to provide a customer with a full and fair account of the fulfilment of its responsibilities to them.

#### **6. Customer assets**

Where a licensee has control of, or is otherwise responsible for, assets belonging to a customer which it is required to safeguard, it should arrange proper protection for them, by way of

segregation and identification of those assets or otherwise, in accordance with the responsibility it has accepted.

#### **7. Market Practice**

A licensee should observe high standards of market conduct and should also comply with any code of standard as in force and issued, or approved, by the Commission.

#### **8. Financial Resources**

A licensee should ensure that it maintains adequate financial resources to meet its regulated business commitments and to withstand the risks to which its business is subject.

#### **9. Internal Organisation**

A licensee should organise and control its internal affairs in a responsible manner, keeping proper records, and where the firm employs staff, or is responsible for the conduct of regulated business by others, should have adequate arrangements to ensure that they are suitable, adequately trained, and properly supervised, and that it has well-defined compliance procedures.

#### **10. Relations with Guernsey Financial Services Commission**

A licensee should deal with the Commission in an open and co-operative manner and keep the regulator promptly informed of anything concerning the business which it might reasonably be expected to disclose.

## SCHEDULE 2

### Calculation of the Annual Percentage Rates (“APR”)

#### Assumption for calculation

##### Guidance

These assumptions are intended to ensure that the total charge for credit and APR are calculated in a consistent way to enable customers to make fair comparison between different offers.

The assumptions are intended to apply where they are necessary in relation to the type of agreement under consideration, for example, assumptions concerning amounts drawn down or the duration of the credit agreements where they are otherwise uncertain.

In general, the total charge for credit and APR will depend on the terms specific to the regulated agreement.

1. For the purposes of calculating the total charge for credit and the APR for customer finance agreements –
  - a. it is assumed that the regulated agreement is to remain valid for the period agreed and that the credit provider and the customer will fulfil their obligations under the terms and by the dates specified in that agreement;
  - b. in the case of a regulated agreement that allows variations in –
    - i. the rate of interest; or
    - ii. where applicable, charges contained in the APR,

where these cannot be quantified at the time of the calculation, it must be assumed that they will remain at the initial level and will be applicable for the duration of the agreement;

- c. where not all rates of interest are determined in the regulated agreement, a rate of interest must be assumed to be fixed only for the partial periods for which the rate of interest is determined exclusively by a fixed percentage agreed when the agreement is made;
- d. where different rates of interest and charges are to be offered for limited periods or amounts during the regulated agreement, the rate of interest and the charge must be assumed to be at the highest level for the duration of the agreement;
- e. where there is a fixed rate of interest agreed in relation to an initial period, at the end of which a new rate of interest is determined and subsequently, periodically, adjusted according to an agreed indicator, it must be assumed that, at the end of the period of the fixed rate of interest, the rate of interest is the same as at the time of making the calculation, based on the value of the agreed indicator at the time;
- f. where the regulated agreement gives the customer freedom of drawdown, the total amount of credit must be assumed to be drawn down immediately and in full;
- g. where the regulated agreement imposes, amongst the different ways of drawdown, a limitation with regard to the amount of credit and period of time, the amount of credit must be assumed to be the maximum amount provided for in the agreement and be drawn down on the earliest date provided for in the agreement;
- h. where the regulated agreement provides different ways of drawdown with different charges or rates of interest, the total amount of credit must be assumed to be drawn down at the highest charge and rate of interest applied to the most common drawdown mechanism for the credit product to which the agreement relates. The most common drawdown mechanism for a particular credit product must be assessed on the basis of the volume of transactions for that product in the preceding twelve months, or expected volumes in the case of a new credit product;
- i. in the case of an overdraft facility, the total amount of credit must be assumed to be drawn down in full and for the entire duration of the regulated agreement and, if the duration of the overdraft facility is not known, it must be assumed that the duration of the facility is three months;



- j. in the case of an open-ended regulated agreement, other than an overdraft facility, it must be assumed that the credit is provided for a period of one year starting from the date of the initial drawdown, and that the final payment made, by the customer, clears the balance of the capital, interest, and any other charges where –
  - i. the capital is repaid, by the customer, in equal monthly payments commencing one month after the date of initial drawdown;
  - ii. in cases where the capital must be repaid in full, in a single payment, within or after each payment period, successive drawdowns and repayments of the entire capital, by the customer, must be assumed to occur over the period of one year;
  - iii. interest and other charges must be applied in accordance with those drawdowns and repayments of capital and as provided for in the regulated credit agreement;
- k. in the case of a regulated agreement, other than an overdraft facility, or an open-ended regulated agreement –
  - i. where the date or amount of a repayment of capital, to be made by the customer, cannot be ascertained it must be assumed that the repayment is made at the earliest date provided for, under the regulated agreement, and is for the lowest amount for which the regulated agreement provides;
  - ii. where it is not known on which date the regulated agreement is made, the date of the initial drawdown must be assumed to be the date which results in the shortest interval between the date and the date of the first payment, to be made by the customer;
- l. where the date or amount of a payment, to be made by a customer, cannot be ascertained on the basis of a regulated agreement, or the assumptions set out above, it must be assumed that the payment is made in accordance with the dates and conditions required, by the credit provider, and, when these are unknown –
  - i. interest charges are paid together with repayments of capital; and

- ii. any non-interest charge, expressed as a single sum, is paid on the date of the making of the regulated credit agreement;
  - m. non-interest charges, expressed as several payments, are paid at regular intervals commencing with the date of the first repayment of capital and, if the amount of such payments is not known, they must be assumed to be equal amounts;
  - n. the final payment clears the balance of capital, interest, and other charges;
  - o. in the case of an agreement for running-account credit, where the credit limit applicable to the credit is not yet known, that credit limit must be assumed to be £1,200.
2. The APR which equates, on an annual basis, to the total present value of drawdowns with the total present value of repayments and payments of charges, is calculated using the following equation.

$$\sum_{k=1}^m C_k (1 + X)^{-t_k} = \sum_{l=1}^{m'} D_l (1 + X)^{-s_l}$$

Where:

- $X$  is the APR
- $m$  is the number of the last drawdown
- $k$  is the number of a drawdown, thus  $1 < k < m$
- $C_k$  is the amount of drawdown  $k$
- $t_k$  is the interval, expressed in years and fractions of a year, between the date of the first drawdown and the date of each subsequent drawdown, thus  $t_1 = 0$
- $m'$  is the number of the last repayment or payment of charges
- $l$  is the number of a repayment or payment of charges
- $D_l$  is the amount of a repayment or payment of charges
- $s_l$  is the interval, expressed in years and fractions of a year, between the date of the first drawdown and the date of each repayment or payment of charges

- The amounts paid, by both parties at different times, shall not necessarily be equal and shall not necessarily be paid at equal intervals.
- The starting date shall be that of the first drawdown.
- Intervals between dates used in the calculations shall be expressed in years or in fractions of years.
- A year is assumed to have 365 days (366 days for a leap year), 52 weeks, or 12 equal months.
- An equal month is assumed to have 30.41666 days (365/12) regardless of whether or not it is a leap year.
- The result of the calculation shall be expressed with an accuracy of at least one decimal place; if the figure at the following decimal place is greater than or equal to 5, the figure at that decimal place is increased by one.

The equation can be rewritten, as set out below, using a single sum and the concept of flows ( $A_k$ ), which will be positive or negative, either paid or received during periods  $l$  to  $k$ , expressed in years.

$$S = \sum_{k=1}^n A_k (1 + X)^{-t_k}$$

$S$  being the present balance of flows;

if the aim is to maintain the equivalence of flows, the value will be 0

## Calculation of home finance APR

3. The underlying formula for the calculation of APR, in respect of home finance calculations, is the same as that set out at paragraph 2.

### Guidance

These requirements are based on the UK Financial Conduct Authority's rules, set out in MCOB 10.3, as at the time of its initial publication in July 2022 (based on the version dated 07/07/2022).

Where any reference is made to a "mortgage arrangement" or "mortgage" it should be read as "home finance agreement" or other lending which is a regulated agreement secured against residential property, for the purposes of the Law.

A "secured lending contract" refers to an agreement which is a regulated agreement secured against residential property in the Bailiwick.

4. Underlying assumptions –
  - a. APR must be calculated on the assumption that the customer does not –
    - i. receive tax relief on their mortgage payment, other than any tax relief which may be applicable in respect of relevant life insurance premiums in accordance with the tax rules applicable in the relevant part of the Bailiwick at the time of the agreement; and
    - ii. does not receive home purchase assistance or other support to buy the property under any States of Guernsey arrangement or other scheme which may apply in the relevant part of the Bailiwick;
  - b. the mortgage lender and customer, at all times, perform their obligations under the contract and the mortgage lender will not exercise any right to repayment at other times;
  - c. any variations in the interest rate, which are due to occur after a specific period of time or are triggered by a specific event –
    - i. where the event is not certain to occur, and does not occur, the consequent change in rate does not occur;

- ii. where the event is certain to occur, that the variation happens at the earliest possible time, in respect of an increase in interest or charges, and at the latest possible time in respect of a decrease in interest or charges.
- 5. Where an APR, calculated in accordance with these rules, has more than one decimal place then it must be rounded to one decimal place. If the second decimal place is five or more, it must be rounded up, if it is less than five then it must be rounded down.
- 6. The length of any period, used in calculating an APR in respect of home finance, must be calculated as follows –
  - a. a period which is not a whole number of calendar months, or a whole number of weeks, must be counted in years and days;
  - b. subject to c., a period which is a whole number of calendar months, or a whole number of weeks, must be counted in calendar months or in weeks, as the case may be;
  - c. where a period is both a whole number of week, and –
    - i. one repayment only is to be made, the period must be counted in calendar months;
    - ii. more than one repayment is to be made –
      - A. if all such repayments are to be made at intervals from the relevant date of one or more weeks, the period must be counted in weeks; and
      - B. in any other case, the period must be counted in calendar months;
  - d. a period which is to be counted –
    - i. in calendar months, must be taken to be of a length equal to the relevant number of twelfth parts of a year;
    - ii. in weeks, must be taken to be of a length equal to the relevant number of fifty-second parts of a year;
  - e. a day may be taken to be either –
    - i. one three hundred and sixty-fifth part of a year, or, if it is a leap year, one three hundred and sixty-sixth and a quarter part of a year; and

- ii. every day must be taken to be a business day.
- 7. Where information cannot be ascertained by a home finance lender, or broker, at the time of making an agreement then the following assumptions must be used in calculating the total cost of credit and the APR for that credit, in the following order (i.e. assumptions on the amount of credit must be applied before other assumptions and calculations are made) –
  - a. assumptions as to the amount of credit –
    - i. where the amount of credit, to be provided under the agreement, cannot be ascertained at the date of making the agreement –
      - A. in the case of an agreement for running-account credit under which there is a credit limit, that amount must be taken to be that credit limit; and
      - B. in any other case, that amount must be taken to be £100;
    - ii. where a mortgage lender makes a further advance, to the customer in addition to the amount originally borrowed under the home finance agreement, the APR for the further advance must be calculated in respect of the further advance alone (and any related charges) and not in respect of the total amount borrowed;
  - b. assumptions as to the period for which the credit is provided –
    - i. in relation to a lifetime ~~mortgage home finance agreement~~, where the APR is calculated for the purpose of a financial promotion, it must be assumed that the credit is being provided for a period of 15 years beginning with the relevant date;
    - ii. in relation to a lifetime ~~mortgage home finance agreement~~, where the APR is calculated for the purpose of an illustration, the period for which the credit is to be provided must be calculated in accordance with the appropriate rules and guidance;
    - iii. in relation to a retirement interest-only ~~mortgage home finance agreement~~, where the APR is calculated for the purposes of an illustration, the period for which the credit is to be provided must be determined in accordance with the appropriate rules and guidance;

- iv. where, in any other case, the period for which credit is to be provided is not ascertainable at the date of the making of the agreement, it must be assumed that credit is provided for beginning with the relevant date;
- c. assumptions where the rate, or amount, is referenced to another factor – subject to the following paragraphs, where the rate or amount of any item included in the total charge for credit, or any amount of any repayment of credit under a transaction, is to be ascertained by reference to the level of any index, or other factor, in accordance with a specified formula, the rate, or amount, must be taken to be the rate, or amount, so ascertained. The formula must be applied as if the level of the index, or other factor, subsisting at the date of the making of the agreement were that subsisting at the date by reference to which the formula is to be applied;
- d. assumptions where secured lending contracts provide for variation in the rate of interest and, under the paragraphs above, the variation will take place but the amount of the variation cannot be ascertained at the date of making the agreement –
  - i. where a secured lending contract provides a formula for calculating a varied rate by reference to a standard variable rate of interest applied by the business, or any other fluctuating rate of interest, but does not enable the varied rate to be ascertained at the date of the making of the agreement because it is not known, on that date, what the standard variable rate will be, or (as the case may be), at what level the fluctuating rate will be fixed when the varied rate is due to be calculated, it must be assumed that the rate, or level, will be the same as the initial standard variable rate;
  - ii. where a secured lending contract provides for the possibility of any variation in the rate of interest (other than a variation referred to in the paragraph above), which it is to be assumed will take place, but does not enable the amount of that variation to be ascertained at the date of making the agreement, it must be assumed that the varied rate will be the same as the initial standard variable rate;

and in this paragraph –

“initial standard variable rate” means –

- the standard variable rate of interest which would be applied by the mortgage lender, or mortgage administrator, to the agreement on the date of the making of the agreement where the agreement provides for interest to be paid at the mortgage lender, or mortgage administrator’s, standard variable rate with effect from that date; or

- if there is no such rate, the standard variable rate of interest applied by the mortgage lender, or mortgage administrator, on the day of the making of the agreement in question to other secured lending agreements, or, where there is more than one such rate, the highest such rate;

“varied rate” means any rate of interest charged when a variation of the rate of interest is to be assumed under the paragraphs above;

e. further assumptions –

i. where –

- A. the period for which the credit, or any of it, is to be, or may be, provided cannot be ascertained at the date of the making of the agreement; and
- B. the rate, or amount, of any item included in the total charge for credit will change at a time provided in the transaction within one year beginning with the relevant date,

the rate, or amount, must be taken to be the highest rate or amount under the transaction at any time in that year;

ii. where the earliest date on which credit is to be provided cannot be ascertained at the date of making the agreement, it must be assumed that credit is provided on that date;

iii. in the case of any transaction, it must be assumed –

- A. that a charge payable at a time, which cannot be ascertained at the date of the making of the agreement, is to be payable on the relevant date, or, where it may reasonably be expected that a customer will not make payment on that date, on the earliest date at which it may reasonably be expected that they will make payment; or
- B. where more than one payment of a charge of the same description is to be made at times which cannot be ascertained at the date of the making of the agreement, that the first such payment will be



payable on the relevant date<sup>10</sup> (or, where it may reasonably be expected that a customer will not make payment on that date, at the earliest date on which it may reasonably be expected that they will make payment), that the last such payment will be payable at the end of the period for which credit is provided and that all other such payments (if any) will be payable at equal intervals between those times.

### **Total charges for credit – home finance agreements**

8. For the purposes of home finance agreements, the total charge for credit, which may be provided under an actual or prospective agreement, is the total of the charges specified in this Schedule, less the exclusions specified in this Schedule, which apply in relation to the regulated agreement and determined at the time of the making of the agreement.
9. The amounts of the following are included in the total charge for credit, in relation to an agreement (subject to the exceptions set out below) –
  - a. the total of the interest on the credit which may be provided under the agreement;
  - b. other charges, at any time payable, under the transaction by, or on behalf of, the customer whether to the business or any other person; and
  - c. where the making, or maintenance, of a contract of insurance is required by the business –
    - i. as a condition of making the agreement; and
    - ii. for the sole purpose of ensuring complete, or partial, repayment of the credit and complete, or partial, payment to the business of such charges included, in the total charge for credit, as are payable to them under the transaction in the event of death, incapacity, illness, or unemployment of the customer,

---

<sup>10</sup> 'relevant date' is the date from which the borrower is entitled to receive funds or payment under the agreement or, if not specified, the date on which the agreement is made.

notwithstanding that the whole, or part, of the charge may be repayable at any time or that the consideration may include matters not within the transaction or subsisting at a time not within the duration of the agreement.

#### **Guidance**

This means, for example, that the following charges must be included within the total charge for credit –

- any fee payable to a mortgage intermediary for arranging the contract; and
- any higher lending charge.

10. Charges required to be included within the total charge for credit must not be excluded on the basis that those charges are refundable under certain circumstances.
11. The total charge for credit and APR must not reflect the ‘value’ of any cashback or similar incentive linked to the agreement.
12. The following charges must not be included in the total charge for credit in relation to an agreement –
  - a. any charge payable, under the agreement, to the business upon failure, by the customer, to do, or not to do, anything which they are required to do, or not to do;
  - b. any charge –
    - i. which is payable, by the business to any person, upon the failure, by the customer, to do, or not to do, anything which they are required under the agreement to do, or not to do; and
    - ii. which the business may, under the agreement, require the customer to pay to them, or to another person on their behalf;
  - c. any charge related to a regulated restricted-use credit agreement to finance a transaction between the customer and the business (whether forming part of that agreement or not), or to finance a transaction between a person ( the “supplier”), other than the business, which would be payable if the transaction were for cash;
  - d. any charge (other than a fee, or commission, charged by a credit broker or intermediary), not within (1)(c) –

- i. of a description which relates to services or benefits incidental to the agreement, and to other services, or benefits, which may be supplied to the customer; and
  - ii. which is payable to fulfil an obligation incurred by the customer under arrangements which were effected before they applied to enter into the agreement and are not arrangements under which the customer is bound to enter into any personal credit agreement;
- e. any charge under arrangements for the care, maintenance or protection of any land or goods, except as at 13.;
- f. charges for money transmission services relating to an agreement for a current account, under which the customer may, by cheques or similar orders payable to themselves or to any other person, obtain or have the use of the money held, or made available, by the business and which records alterations in the financial relationship between the business and customer – being charges which vary with the customer's use of the agreement;
- g. any charge for a guarantee, other than a guarantee –
  - i. which is required by the business as a condition of making the agreement; and
  - ii. the purpose of which is to ensure complete, or partial, repayment of the credit and complete, or partial, payment to the business of such of those charges included in the total charge for credit as are payable to them, under the agreement, in the event of death, incapacity, illness or unemployment of the customer;
- h. charges for the transfer of funds (other those set out at f.) and charges for keeping an account intended to receive payments towards the repayment of the credit and the payment of interest and other charges, except where the customer does not have reasonable freedom of choice and where such charges are abnormally high – this does not exclude, from the total charge for credit charges for the collection of the payments to which it refers, whether these payments are made in cash or otherwise; and
- i. a premium, under a contract of insurance - other than a contract of insurance set out as being specifically included, in the total charge for credit, at paragraph 9c.

13. A charge under 12e. only has effect –

a. where, under the arrangement –

- i. the services are to be performed if, after the date of making the agreement, the condition of the land, or goods, becomes, or is in immediate danger of becoming, such that the land, or goods, cannot reasonably be enjoyed or used; and
- ii. the charge will not accrue unless the service is performed; or

b. where –

- i. provision of substantially the same description as to which the arrangements relate is available, under comparable arrangements, from a person who is not the business, or a supplier, or a credit-broker, or a mortgage intermediary, who introduced the business and the customer;
- ii. the arrangements are made with a person chosen by the customer; and
- iii. if, in accordance with the agreement, the consent of the business, or of a supplier, or of the mortgage intermediary or credit broker who introduced the customer and the business is required to the making of the agreement – where the agreement provides, such consent may not be unreasonably withheld because no incidental benefit will, or may, accrue to the business, or to the supplier, or to the credit broker, or to the mortgage intermediary, or on any other ground.

14. References, in this Schedule, to the business, a supplier, a mortgage intermediary, and a credit broker include references to their near relative, partner, or a member of a group of which they are a member, any person nominated by them or any such person in relation to the arrangements, and to a near relative of that partner; and ‘near relative’ means, in relation to any person, the husband, wife, civil partner, father, mother, brother, sister, son or daughter of that person; and ‘group’ means the person (including a company) having control of a company together with all the companies directly, or indirectly, controlled by them.

## **SCHEDULE 3**

### **Calculation of maximum early repayment fees in relation to Regulated Agreements**

#### **1. Regulated agreements (excluding home finance agreements)**

Licensees must not charge more than one month of interest payments, as an early repayment fee, for regulated agreements with a remaining duration of less than twelve months.

Licensees must not charge more than two months of interest payments, as an early repayment fee, on regulated agreements with a remaining duration of twelve months or more.

#### **2. Regulated agreements that are home finance agreements**

In the case of home finance agreements where the interest rate payable is fixed or discounted for a set period of time, in the first year of that set period, licensees must not charge early repayment fees in excess of 1% (one percent) of the outstanding ~~principle~~ principal of the loan, for each remaining year or part thereof, that the interest rate is fixed, or discounted, under the agreement. In the final year of the set period licensees must not charge early repayment fees in excess of 1.5% (one and a half percent) of the outstanding ~~principle~~ principal of the loan.

## SCHEDULE 4

### Unfair agreement terms in relation to Regulated Agreements

1. This Schedule contains an inexhaustive list of terms which the Commission would consider to be unfair agreement terms in most circumstances.
2. When deciding whether a term is unfair the Commission will take all circumstances into account. There are certain circumstances where a term, which would otherwise be considered unfair, would be permissible.

#### Guidance

For example, the following is a situation where a term, which would otherwise be considered unfair, would be permissible:

Changes made to interest rates to reflect changes in the base rate.

However, in this circumstance the Commission would expect that the customer would be notified immediately.

An additional example would be where the FCA has agreed that a term is not unfair. This would only apply to the same product or circumstances that the FCA reviewed and licensees would need to prove, to the Commission that the FCA had made such a decision.

#### List of Unfair Terms<sup>11</sup>

1. A term which has the object or effect of inappropriately excluding or limiting the legal rights of the consumer in relation to the trader or another party in the event of total or partial non-performance or inadequate performance by the trader of any of the contractual obligations, including the option of offsetting a debt owed to the trader against any claim which the consumer may have against the trader.
2. A term which has the object or effect of making an agreement binding on the consumer in a case where the provision of services by the trader is subject to a condition whose realisation depends on the traders will alone.

---

<sup>11</sup> This list is not exhaustive and the Commission, at all times, retains discretion with respect to unfair agreement terms.

3.	A term which has the object or effect of permitting the trader to retain sums paid by the consumer where the consumer decides not to conclude or perform the contract, without providing for the consumer to receive compensation of an equivalent amount from the trader where the trader is the party cancelling the contract.
4.	A term which has the object or effect of requiring that, where the consumer decides not to conclude or perform the contract, the consumer must pay the trader a disproportionately high sum in compensation or for services which have not been supplied.
5.	A term which has the object or effect of requiring a consumer who fails to fulfil their obligations under the contract to pay a disproportionately high sum in compensation.
6.	A term which has the object or effect of authorising the trader to dissolve the contract on a discretionary basis where the same facility is not granted to the consumer, or permitting the trader to retain the sums paid for services not yet supplied by the trader where it is the trader who dissolves the contract.
7.	A term which has the object or effect of enabling the trader to terminate a contract of indeterminate duration without reasonable notice except where there are serious grounds for doing so.
8.	A term which has the object or effect of automatically extending a contract of fixed duration where the consumer does not indicate otherwise, when the deadline fixed for the consumer to express a desire not to extend the contract is unreasonably early
9.	A term which has the object or effect of irrevocably binding the consumer to terms with which the consumer has no real opportunity of becoming acquainted before the conclusion of the contract.
10.	A term which has the object or effect of enabling the trader to alter the terms of the contract unilaterally without a valid reason which is specified in the contract.
11.	A term which has the object or effect of permitting the trader to determine the characteristics of the subject matter of the contract after the consumer has become bound by it.
12.	A term which has the object or effect of enabling the trader to alter unilaterally without a valid reason any characteristics of the goods, digital content or services to be provided.
13.	A term which has the object or effect of giving the trader the discretion to decide the price payable under the contract after the consumer has become bound by it, where no price or method of determining the price is agreed when the consumer becomes bound.
14.	A term which has the object or effect of permitting a trader to increase the price of goods, digital content or services without giving the consumer the right to cancel the contract if the final price is too high in relation to the price agreed when the contract was concluded.
15.	A term which has the object or effect of giving the trader the right to determine whether the goods, digital content or services supplied are in conformity with the contract, or giving the trader the exclusive right to interpret any term of the contract.
16.	A term which has the object or effect of limiting the trader's obligations to respect commitments undertaken by the trader's agents or making the trader's commitments subject to compliance with a particular formality.

17. A term which has the object or effect of obliging the consumer to fulfil all of the consumer's obligations where the trader does not perform the trader's obligations.
18. A term which has the object or effect of allowing the trader to transfer the trader's rights and obligations under the contract, where this may reduce the guarantees for the consumer, without the consumer's agreement.
19. A term which has the object or effect of excluding or hindering the consumer's rights to take legal action or exercise any other legal remedy, in particular by – <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>a. requiring the consumer to take disputes exclusively to arbitration not covered by legal provisions,</li> <li>b. unduly restricting the evidence available to the consumer, or</li> <li>c. imposing on the consumer a burden of proof which, according to the applicable law, should lie with another party to the contract.</li> </ul>
20. A term which has the object or effect of excluding or limiting the trader's ability in the event of the death of or personal injury to the consumer resulting from an act or omission of the trader.
21. A term which prevents consumers from taking out further loans with other credit providers.

### Guidance

**Cancellation without reasonable notice** does not include a term by which the business reserves the right to terminate, unilaterally, a contract of indeterminate duration without notice where there is a valid reason, and the business is required to inform the customer of the cancellation immediately and advised of the date from which the change will take effect.

**Variation without a valid reason** does not include a term by which the business reserves the right to alter the interest payable by, or due to, the customer, or the amount of other charges for services, where there is a valid reason, provided –

- the business is required to inform the customer of the alteration at the earliest opportunity, and
- the customer is free to dissolve the agreement immediately.



## SCHEDULE 5

### Key-facts illustrations for equity release

All key-fact illustrations must contain the date it was produced, the customer's name, and at a minimum, the matters set out below:

#### **1. The transaction**

- a. The specific equity release ~~finance arrangement~~ that the customer is interested in;
- b. The amount of the loan or equity required by the customer. Where the amount the customer can draw down is variable, the licensee must agree with the customer an expected amount to be drawn down per year;
- c. For lifetime mortgages, the rate of interest to be charged. This must be the rate of interest available at the date the illustration is issued;
- d. The price or value of the property on which the equity release amount is based;
- e. Details of any insurance the customer is required to take out as a condition of the equity release finance, including the value and frequency of premium payments;
- f. Such information relating to the customer, or the property, or both, as to determine that the customer would qualify for the equity release ~~finance arrangement~~; and
- g. The estimated term.

#### **2. Service**

- a. Confirmation (where applicable) that the product within the key-facts illustration is assessed to be suitable to the customer's needs and is being recommended to the customer; or, if not applicable,
- b. Confirmation that the product within the key-facts illustration is not being recommended to the customer, but is being provided to the customer on an informative basis.

### **Guidance**

The confirmation required by paragraph 2(b) of this Schedule ~~affirms~~ should explain that the adviser is not recommending ~~that any one~~ particular product to the customer, but rather, is informing the customer on the aspects and details of products available ~~it~~.

### **3. Description of this product**

- a. A description of the product that includes the definition of a lifetime mortgage or home reversion finance plan (as applicable), as defined under subsection 90(1) of the Law in Rule 12.1 (2).

### **4. Fees paid by the customer**

- a. Information about any fees that may be charged; including, but not limited to –
  - i. Fees relating to the provision of legal advice to the customer; and
  - ii. Fees relating to the provision of advice to the customer by an equity release adviser.

**For a lifetime mortgage only, the key-fact illustration must also contain:**

### **5. What the customer will owe and when**

- a. This section must include details of payments and a projection of rolled-up interest, as appropriate.
- b. Details of payments are required where –
  - i. ~~Whether~~ The terms of the lifetime mortgage would require the customer to make regular payments to the mortgage lender, in respect of all or part of the interest or part of the capital due under those terms, either over the duration of the lifetime mortgage or until a specified date; or
  - ii. ~~Whether~~ The terms of the lifetime mortgage would reasonably expect that the customer will make such payments until he or she chooses to stop doing so.

- c. Details of payments must include the value and frequency of the regular payments and, where the interest rate charged will change in the future, the value of the regular payments once the change occurs.
- d. A projection of rolled-up interest is required where all or part of the interest due over the life of the lifetime mortgage is or may be added to the loan.
- e. A projection of rolled-up interest must include a table that sets out, for each year of the estimated term, the balance outstanding at the start of the year, the amount of interest charged during the year, the total value of all fees to be added to the loan that year, and the total amount owed at the end of the year. Where the product is an equity release drawdown product, the estimated amounts to be drawn down each year must be included in the table.

## **6. Early repayment and early repayment charges**

- a. If the terms of the lifetime mortgage permits repayment of the loan, or the interest on the loan, in part or in full, the details of this permission. This includes but is not necessarily limited to –
  - i. If early repayment charges exist, the amount of these charges, and how this relates to the amount that can be repaid by the customer; and
  - ii. If penalty-free payments exist, the amount of penalty-free payment that can be made by the customer, and the permitted frequency of these penalty-free payments.

## **7. Risks**

- a. This section must include information about the risks to the lifetime mortgage customer. This includes, but is not necessarily limited to –
  - i. A statement of the specific circumstances in which the equity release provider is able to repossess the property;
  - ii. A statement of how the equity release provider will treat any negative equity arising during the term of the lifetime mortgage and at the time the amount borrowed under the lifetime mortgage is due to be repaid in full;

- iii. A statement covering the event of the customer wanting or needing to move home, dealing with the circumstances in which the lifetime mortgage is portable;
- iv. A statement of the effect on the lifetime mortgage of another party moving into the property (for example, on marriage or the formation of a civil partnership, or where a family member acts as a carer); and
- v. A warning that taking out this lifetime mortgage may affect the customer's tax and welfare benefits position.

**For a home reversion finance plan only, the key-facts illustration must also contain:**

## **8. Risks**

- a. A statement acknowledging the risk to the customer that the property may increase in value, subsequent to the customer selling to the equity release provider, all or part of the property.

## **9. Requirements for repair and maintenance of the property**

- a. A statement setting out the equity release provider's requirements for repair and maintenance of the property. This may include, if applicable, the equity release provider's right to enter the property to effect essential repairs, and the circumstances in which this may occur.

## SCHEDULE 6

### Equity Release Code of Practice

#### 1 OVERARCHING PRINCIPLES

##### Overarching principles

- (1) Licensees should ensure that all their actions promote public confidence in equity release.
- (2) Licensees should act at all times to deliver good outcomes for retail customers.
- (3) Licensees should ensure that conflicts of interest are identified swiftly and managed fairly.
- (4) Licensees should seek to deliver suitable outcomes for customers from initial sale through every point of contact during the life of the product.

## 2 REQUIRED CUSTOMER OUTCOMES

### Required customer outcomes

- (1) Licensees must offer customers the products and services that suit their needs best and which offer fair value.
- (2) The amount charged by a licensee for a product/service must reflect the benefits customers expect and ~~is~~ be communicated in a manner customers can understand.
- (3) Licensees must seek to identify and provide appropriate support to customers who may be exposed to physical, mental and financial vulnerability at any point of contact.
- (4) Licensees must take reasonable steps to make sure that customers understand their rights and responsibilities at every point of contact.
- (5) Licensees must ensure that customers will be able to live in their own property for as long as they wish, or move to a suitable alternative property, as long as they abide by the terms and conditions of their contract.

### 3 REQUIREMENTS

#### 1. Adviser rules

##### 1.1. Application

- 1) This rule applies to all licensees providing equity release advice.

##### 1.2. Family involvement

- 1) A licensee must undertake a full discussion with a customer, to ensure that they are made fully aware of any implications of the equity release finance plan for them and their family.
- 2) A licensee must facilitate the opportunity for a customer to include their family within the discussion required by paragraph (1).
- 3) Where, at the customer's request, the customer's family is not included in such discussions, the reason for not consulting with their family must be clearly documented.

#### Guidance

A licensee should be led by their customer regarding family involvement. "Family" may be different in individual circumstances. It may, for example, include immediate family members such as children, parents and/or siblings, as appropriate.

Ultimately, it is for the customer to determine which family members are appropriate to include in the discussion, if any.

Licensees should take extra care if the customer lives with any dependants (i.e., anyone under 18, or anyone over the age of 18 who are financially dependent on the customer and/or who have a physical or mental disability).

### **1.3. Risks, features and benefits**

- 1) Licensees must ensure that a customer is advised, in writing, of the risks, features and benefits of the relevant product before proceeding with an application.

#### **Guidance**

This is of particular relevance when advising younger borrowers (50 to 60).

### **1.4. Wills and Lasting Power of Attorneys (“LPAs”)**

- 1) A licensee must advise a customer to seek advice about reviewing and updating their existing will or putting in place a will if they do not have one.
- 2) A licensee must recommend that a customer seeks advice about updating any existing power of attorney (“POA”) or LPA. If no POA or LPA is in place, the customer must be advised to seek assistance in arranging an LPA.
- 3) Where a customer takes out a drawdown product, the licensee must strongly advise the customer that they put a POA in place.

#### **Guidance**

Putting in place a POA or LPA may be appropriate given the long-term nature of equity release products. This is particularly important where drawdown products are taken out, as failure to do so could mean that, if the customer loses capacity, future drawdown facilities could be jeopardised.

### **1.5. Suitability**

- 1) A licensee must provide a customer with a written record of their advice and recommendation (“the suitability report”).
- 2) Licensees must have and evidence specific conversations around the options available for interest served or capital repayment lifetime mortgage solutions to mitigate the impact of roll-up interest over a longer period of time.

#### **Guidance**

This is of particular relevance when advising younger borrowers (those below State pension age).



### 1.6. Checklist for advisers

- 1) Where a plan has been recommended to a customer (even if the case does not proceed), a licensee must complete the Checklist for Advisers. The licensee must ensure that each of the points in the checklist have been fully covered and completed in detail.

### 1.7. Drawdown

- 1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to licensees providing advice regarding lifetime mortgage products that are equity release drawdown products.
- 2) Licensees must ensure that applicants for drawdown products are made aware that –
  - (a) A drawdown facility is not guaranteed and, if agreed, will be charged at the prevailing rate of interest at the time of drawdown; and
  - (b) Lenders may ask further questions about the purpose of any future drawdown monies at the time requested.
- 3) Licensees must act responsibly in recommending drawdown monies to customers.

### 1.8. Quality assurance

- 1) Licensees must implement robust quality assurance programmes that aim to improve customer experience and outcomes.
- 2) Licensees must routinely test these quality assurance programmes to ensure that customers are treated fairly, with empathy and with sensitivity to their individual circumstances.

#### Guidance

As above, licensees must 'routinely' test their quality assurance programmes, however the exact frequency of this testing is at the discretion of the licensee. When deciding the appropriate frequency of testing, a licensee should consider the nature, scale and complexity of its business, whilst ensuring that customers are treated fairly at all times.

### 1.9. Additional security charges

- 1) Where a licensed adviser proposes that a customer with an existing home finance agreement should effect an additional security charge, the licensee must check that a referral to any existing chargeholders has first been considered.
- 2) A licensee must retain written evidence of this referral on the customer file.

### 1.10. Legal marketing costs

- 1) Licensees must not accept any payment, or any other consideration, from a legal adviser on a case-by-case basis.
- 2) Where legal advisers pay periodic contributions towards a licensee's marketing costs in return for non-specified numbers of referrals, such payments must not be calculated or aggregated on the basis of the number of cases referred.

#### Guidance

These payments permitted by paragraph 1.10 are generic payments, designed to publicise the law firm's service in the hope of receiving a non-specified number of referred customers.

### 1.11. Explanation of Product standards

- 1) Licensees must clearly explain to a customer whether a product they are recommending meets all of the product standards.
- 2) Where a product that is being recommended does not meet all of the product standards, a licensee must explicitly disclose to the customer which product standards are not met and give an illustration of the types of risks this poses to a customer and how this could affect the customer.

#### Guidance

For the purposes of this ~~sub~~-rule, "product standards" refers to the core product standards (as described in paragraphs (2) to (6) of Rule 2.4 of this Schedule) and the product standards for mandatory payment lifetime mortgages (as described in paragraphs (3) to (7) of Rule 2.5 of this Schedule), as applicable.

## 2. Provider rules

### 2.1. Application

- 1) This rule applies to all licensees that are equity release providers.

### 2.2. Accepting business

- 1) Licensees must issue a customer with a Key Facts Illustration (“KFI”), which includes all features, risks and benefits associated with a product, prior to accepting their application.
- 2) Licensees must only accept applications for equity release products from licensed equity release advisers, ~~which~~ who –
  - (a) ~~Have advisers who h~~ Hold an Approved Equity Release Qualification; and
  - (b) Have recommended the product being applied for.
- 3) Licensees must only accept applications for equity release products which are supported by a declaration signed by the adviser that confirms that the adviser holds the appropriate Approved Equity Release Qualification.

#### Guidance

Where an application is submitted online, it is acceptable for the signed declaration to take the form of submission through secure password protected access.

- 4) Sales must always be made on an advised basis with a personal recommendation being given to the customer.

#### Guidance

For the avoidance of doubt, this ~~sub~~-rule also applies to any licensees facilitating an existing customer seeking to increase borrowing under an existing lifetime mortgage or home reversion ~~contract~~ finance agreement.

- 5) A licensee must not accept business unless it has taken reasonable steps to satisfy itself that the adviser has followed these rules and taken account of this guidance.

- ~~6) A licensee must only accept business once it has obtained confirmation, from the customer's legal adviser, that a customer, or (where appropriate) their agent, has obtained face to face, independent legal advice. The confirmation must —~~
- ~~(a) Set out the legal obligations, risks and rewards of an equity release product;~~
  - ~~(b) Be issued by a legal adviser who holds a current practising certificate and who has the benefit of appropriate professional indemnity insurance;~~
  - ~~(c) Confirm that the legal adviser has witnessed the customer's (or attorney's) signature on any documents which are required to be executed as deeds;~~
  - ~~(d) Confirm that the legal adviser has verified (insofar as they are reasonably able to) —~~
    - ~~(i) — The customer's (or attorney's) identity and signature;~~
    - ~~(ii) — That the customer (or attorney) has sufficient mental capacity to enter into the equity release contract;~~
    - ~~(iii) — That the customer (or attorney) is not under any duress or undue influence to enter into the equity release contract;~~
    - ~~(iv) — That, in the case of joint customers (or attorneys), each agrees to enter into the equity release contract;~~
    - ~~(v) — That, in the case of the equity release contract being entered into by an Attorney on behalf of a customer, the Power of Attorney or representative under which the equity release contract is to be made is valid and correctly executed;~~
  - ~~(e) Confirm that the legal adviser has drawn the customer's attention to the points set out within it; and~~
  - ~~(f) Be signed by both the legal adviser and the customer.~~

#### Guidance

Within sub rule 2.2.6, "face to face" means a physical meeting, rather than reliance on electronic or telephonic means of communication.

For the purposes of this Schedule, all references to "legal adviser" shall mean the individual, and/or legal firm, that is providing the customer with legal advice, in relation to an equity release transaction, and may include an advocate, solicitor, barrister or anyone qualified to provide legal advice.

### 2.3. Communication

- 1) A licensee must ensure that appropriate ongoing communication with customers is in place throughout the life of the product.

### 2.4. Core product standards

- 1) A licensee must, wherever reasonably possible, ensure that any equity release products it offers (excluding mandatory payment lifetime mortgages) meet all of the core product standards described in paragraphs (2) to (6) below.

#### Guidance

In the Commission's view, it is unlikely that a product that does not meet all of the product standards would offer good outcomes to customers.

Nonetheless, the Commission recognises that there may be circumstances where a product that does not meet all the product standards could be suitable for a customer, given their particular circumstances, and as such the Commission does not wish to unduly restrict firms from offering innovative products that meet customer needs.

When designing a product, a provider should carefully consider, and document, the justification for issuing a product that does not meet all of the standards.

- 2) **Right to remain:** Provided that the property remains the customer's main residence, and that they adhere to the terms and conditions of the contract, licensees must give customers the right to remain in their property for life, or until they move into long-term care.
- 3) **Right to move:** Provided that the customer abides by the terms and conditions of their contract, licensees must allow customers to live in their own property for as long as they wish and allow them to move to a suitable alternative property (subject to lending criteria at the time of move). This means that –
  - (a) For home reversion **finance plans**, licensees must offer a customer a new plan in respect of a suitable alternative property, on terms no less favourable than those offered to new customers at that time.
  - (b) For new lifetime mortgages, additional borrowing and access to cash reserves, each interest rate must remain fixed from the completion date of the application until the loan is repaid, or, if they are variable, there must be a

“cap” (upper limit), which is fixed from the completion date of the application until the loan is repaid.

- (c) Where the new property is of insufficient value to secure the amount owed to the provider, any partial repayment must be limited so that the net amount remaining shall not be less than the percentage of the property value that the provider would advance to a new customer in comparable circumstances.
- (d) A licensee must not charge any early repayment charge, or similar charge, when transferring an existing plan to an alternative property.

### **Guidance**

For the avoidance of doubt, a licensee may charge a customer reasonable costs and expenses for entering into a new plan or transferring an existing plan to an alternative property.

- 4) **Right to make penalty-free payments:** For lifetime mortgages, all products should include a facility for customers to make voluntary repayments, subject to lender criteria.
- 5) **Interest rates:** For lifetime mortgages, interest rates must be either fixed or, if variable, have a cap fixed for the life of the loan.
- 6) **No Negative Equity Guarantee (“NNEG”):** For lifetime mortgages, a licensee must only offer products that have a NNEG. The NNEG must specify that –
  - (a) Whenever the amount owing to the licensee is to be repaid from the proceeds of sale of the secured property, the amount owing will not exceed the net proceeds of sale (after deduction of selling agents’ fees, legal fees, disbursements and reasonable costs).
  - (b) Provided that the property is sold for the best price reasonably obtainable, a licensee must accept the net proceeds of sale in full and final settlement of the amount owing.
  - (c) Where a customer has more than one lifetime mortgage contract outstanding with a licensee, the NNEG applies to each property individually, so that the licensee may not seek to recover any shortfall in repayment from the sale of one property; by claiming from the customer, the customer’s estate, or the sale proceeds of any other property.
- 7) Licensees must explain clearly when the NNEG does and does not apply. This explanation should be included in the KFI and in the offer document and may also form part of their terms and conditions. The explanation must clarify when the NNEG does and does not apply.

### Guidance

For example, the NNEG may apply where the property is sold and there is a shortfall between the proceeds of sale and the amount owed to the provider. The NNEG may not apply; for example, where the property is sold, but not at the best price reasonably obtainable, or the property has not been kept in a good state of repair.

- 8) Licensees must only indicate that a product meets the core product standards (as described in paragraphs (2) to (6)) if that product meets all the standards.
- 9) Where a licensee offers an equity release product (other than a mandatory payment lifetime mortgage) that does not meet all of the core product standards (as described in paragraphs (2) to (6)), the product provider must state this prominently in adviser and consumer-facing literature. The literature must explicitly state which core product standards are not met and give an illustration of the types of risks this poses to a customer.

### Guidance

As per (9) above, providers should only claim that a product meets the product standards if it meets all of them. If any product standards are not met, the associated product literature must explain which standards are not met and should give an illustration of the types of risks that this might pose to a customer.

- 10) A licensee must give prior written notice to the Commission of any proposal to introduce a new product or materially vary an existing product. Any such notification must either confirm that (following the amendments, where applicable) the product will (continue) to meet the core product standards, or, if not, setting out the exceptions.

## 2.5. Product standards for mandatory payment lifetime mortgages

- 1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to licensees ~~where~~ when providing equity release products that are mandatory payment lifetime mortgages.
- 2) A licensee must, wherever reasonably possible, ensure that any mandatory payment lifetime mortgage products it offers meet all of the core product standards described in paragraphs (3) to (7) below.

### Guidance

In the Commission's view, it is unlikely that a product that does not meet all of the product standards would offer good outcomes to customers.

Nonetheless, the Commission recognises that there may be circumstances where a product that does not meet all the product standards could be suitable for a customer, given their particular circumstances, and as such the Commission does not wish to unduly restrict firms from offering innovative products that meet customer needs.

When designing a product, a provider should carefully consider, and document, the justification for issuing a product that does not meet all of the standards.

- 3) **Right to remain:** Licensees must give customers the right to remain in their property for life, or until they move permanently into long-term care, provided that the property remains their main residence and they adhere to the terms and conditions of the contract (including making mandatory payments, as agreed).
- 4) **Right to move:** Provided that the customer abides by the terms and conditions of their contract, licensees must allow customers to live in their own property for as long as they wish and allow them to move to a suitable alternative property (subject to lending criteria at the time of the move). This means that –
  - (a) For new lifetime mortgages, additional borrowing and access to cash reserves, each interest rate must remain fixed from the completion date of the application until the loan is repaid or, if they are variable, there must be a "cap" (upper limit) which is fixed from the completion date of the application until the loan is repaid;
  - (b) Where the new property is of insufficient value to secure the amount owed to the provider, any partial repayment must be limited so that the net amount remaining shall not be less than the percentage of the property value that the provider would advance to a new customer in comparable circumstances; and



- (c) A licensee must not charge any early repayment, or similar charge, when transferring an existing plan to an alternative property.

**Guidance**

For the avoidance of doubt, a licensee may charge a customer reasonable costs and expenses for entering into a new plan or transferring an existing plan to an alternative property.

- 5) **Right to make penalty-free payments:** For mandatory ~~repayment~~ lifetime mortgages, all products should include a facility for customers to make voluntary repayments, subject to lender criteria, once the mandatory ~~repayment~~ period has ended.

**Guidance**

For the avoidance of doubt, lenders may also allow customers to make voluntary repayments in addition to the mandatory payments, subject to lender criteria.

- 6) **Interest rates:** For mandatory ~~repayment~~ lifetime mortgages, interest rates must be either fixed or, if variable, have a cap fixed for the life of the loan.
- 7) **No Negative Equity Guarantee (“NNEG”):** For mandatory ~~repayment~~ lifetime mortgages, a licensee must only offer products that have a NNEG. The NNEG must specify that –
- (a) Whenever the amount owing to the licensee is to be repaid from the proceeds of sale of the secured property, the amount owing will not exceed the net proceeds of sale (after deduction of selling agents’ fees, legal fees, disbursements and reasonable costs), with the exception of arrears plus arrears interest, which must be paid by the estate.
  - (b) Provided that the property is sold for the best price reasonably obtainable, a licensee must accept the net proceeds of sale in full and final settlement of the amount owing.
  - (c) Where a customer has more than one lifetime mortgage contract outstanding with a licensee, the NNEG applies to each property individually, so that licensee may not seek to recover any shortfall in repayment from the sale of one property, by claiming from the customer, the customer’s estate, or the sale, proceeds of any other property.
- 8) Licensees must explain clearly when the NNEG does and does not apply. This explanation should be included in the KFI and in the offer document and may also

form part of their terms and conditions. The explanation must clarify when the NNEG does and does not apply.

**Guidance**

Please refer to the guidance note under rule 2.4(7) of this Schedule.

- 9) Licensees must only indicate that a product meets the product standards for mandatory payment lifetime mortgages (as described in paragraphs (3) to (7)) if that product meets all the standards.
- 10) Where a licensee offers a mandatory payment lifetime mortgage product that does not meet all of the standards (as described in paragraphs (3) to (7)), the product provider must state this prominently in adviser and consumer-facing literature. The literature must explicitly state which product standards for mandatory payment lifetime mortgages are not met and give an illustration of the types of risks this poses to a customer.

**Guidance**

As per (10) above, providers should only claim that a product meets the product standards if it meets all of them. If any product standards are not met, the associated product literature must explain which standards are not met and should give an illustration of the types of risks that this might pose to a customer.

- 11) A licensee must give prior written notice to the Commission of any proposal to introduce a new product or materially vary an existing product. Any such notification must either confirm that (following the amendments, where applicable) the product will (continue) to meet the product standards for mandatory payment lifetime mortgages, or, if not, ~~setting~~ set out the exceptions.

**2.6. Changes to loan terms**

- 1) Where a licensee significantly changes the terms of the original loan when arranging a further advance, it must, at the beginning of the further advance process –
  - (a) Inform the adviser that this will happen; and
  - (b) Ensure that the customer is fully informed that this will happen.

## 2.7. Qualified independent valuer

- 1) A licensee must ensure that an up-to-date valuation is carried out by a Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) qualified, independent valuer who –
  - (a) Is a current member of the RICS and registered under the RICS Valuer Registration Scheme (“RICS VRS”).  
Works in a practice comprising at least two fully qualified RICS members who are also registered under the RICS VRS.
  - (b) Works in a practice which carries professional indemnity insurance in compliance with the RICS’s requirements
- 2) A licensee must ensure that a copy of the valuer’s report is given to the adviser and to the customer.
- 3) ~~Licensees must disclose to the customer any links they have with specific, independent valuers.~~

### Guidance

It should also be clear that the purpose of the valuation is for assisting a lending decision and not for the benefit of property condition or valuation advice to the customer.

A valuer may be considered independent if:

- (a) the customer can choose the valuer, subject to the licensee objecting on reasonable grounds and to the valuer being competent;
- (b) they owe a duty of care to the customer in valuing the property; and
- (c) the customer has an appropriate remedy against them under a complaints procedure which allows the complaint to be referred to an independent person whose decision is binding on the valuer.

Licensees should disclose to the customer any links they have with specific independent valuers.

## 2.8. Drawdown

- 1) This ~~sub~~-rule only applies to licensees providing lifetime mortgage products that are equity release drawdown products.
- 2) Licensees must act responsibly in releasing drawdown monies to customers by ensuring that customers –
  - (a) Meet the benchmarks outlined in an appropriate set of the licensee’s internal vulnerability, data and capacity policies;

- (b) Are offered a route to support when required; and
- (c) Have fully understood the effect of accessing monies from a drawdown facility and the costs involved.
- 3) Licensees must have in place frameworks to identify, capture and respond to a range of factors that influence the decision to access or apply for a drawdown facility, both at the point of sale and when additional borrowing decisions are being made.
- 4) Licensees must proactively and regularly review the effectiveness of these frameworks.
- 5) Licensees must proactively look at practical ways to validate that drawdowns are for a legal and legitimate purposes.

#### **Guidance**

With reference to ~~sub~~-rule 2.98(2)(b) above, required support might include, for example, obtaining further advice.

With reference to ~~sub~~-rule 2.98(3) above, this framework should enable licensees to identify customers who may be accessing their drawdown facility in a way that is inconsistent with that expected from their lifetime mortgage application. For example, the framework should flag to the licensee any indicators of fraud and/or duress (e.g., where triggered by multiple drawdown requests received within an unexpectedly short space of time).